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Woodside is the pioneer of the LNG industry in Australia and the largest Australian natural gas producer. 
We have a global portfolio and are recognised for our world-class capabilities as an integrated upstream 
supplier of energy. 

We have a clear strategy to deliver superior shareholder 
returns across three distinct time horizons, characterised by 
cash generation from 2017, unlocking value from 2022, and 
repeating our successes from 2027.

We are delivering on our strategy, creating an integrated 
LNG production centre on the Burrup Peninsula. Building on 
more than 30 years of operations in Western Australia, we 
are progressing development of the Scarborough and Browse 
gas resources through our producing assets, the Woodside-
operated Pluto LNG and North West Shelf (NWS) Project. 

Our operated assets are renowned for their safety, reliability 
and e�ciency and we have a strong track record in project 
development. As Australia’s premier LNG operator, we 
produced 6% of global LNG supply. We operate two �oating 
production storage and o�oading (FPSO) facilities.

We also have a participating interest in Wheatstone LNG,  
which started production in 2017.

Across our oil and gas portfolio, we have signi�cant equity 
interests in high-quality development opportunities in Senegal 
(SNE), Myanmar, Canada (Kitimat) and Timor-Leste / Australia 
(Sunrise). We are pursuing new concepts and technology to 
enable cost-e�ective commercialisation of these resources.

We have a renewed exploration plan with a more focused 
and opportunistic approach across established, emerging and 
future growth hubs in Australia, Myanmar, Senegal, Gabon, 
Peru and Bulgaria. 

We continue to expand our capabilities in marketing, trading and 
shipping and have enduring relationships that span 30 years with 
foundation customers throughout the Asia-Paci�c region. 

Technology and innovation are essential to our long-term 
sustainability. Today we are pioneering remote support and 
the application of arti�cial intelligence, embedding advanced 
analytics across our operations while recognising digital security 
issues. We are working to improve our energy e�ciency and to 
support the use of LNG as a low-emissions and economically 
viable fuel.

Woodside demonstrates strong safety and environmental 
performance in all its operations. We are committed to 
upholding our values of integrity, respect, discipline, excellence, 
working sustainably and working together. Our success is 
driven by our people, and we aim to attract, develop and retain 
a diverse, high-performing workforce.

We recognise that enduring, meaningful relationships  
with communities are fundamental to maintaining our 
licence to operate. We actively seek to build relationships 
with stakeholders who are interested in and a�ected by our 
activities. We help create stronger communities through 
programs that improve knowledge, build resilience and 
create shared opportunities. 

Our proven track record and distinctive capabilities are 
underpinned by almost 65 years of experience, making  
us a partner of choice.

ABOUT  
WOODSIDE

As Australia’s premier LNG 
operator, we produced 6% 
of global LNG supply.
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PERFORMANCE 
HIGHLIGHTS

1,364$

1,524$

3.6$

1.32

Net profit after tax
Increased 28% 

million

million

per boe

US cents per share

per million work hours

Dividend  
Increased 47%

Free cash flow 
Increased 83%

LNG unit production cost 
Pluto LNG and NWS Project

Total recordable injury rate
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CHAIRMAN�S  
REPORT

It is a privilege for me to report on what has been 
a pivotal year for Woodside as we outlined growth 
plans that shore up the future of your company.

Since announcing those plans in February, we have already 
made good progress on delivering them, and our vision for the 
Burrup Hub is starting to take shape. 

Our focus is always on value for shareholders and this year we 
have delivered strong returns, generating free cash �ow of 
$1,524 million and net pro�t after tax of $1,364 million. We will 
pay an annual dividend of US 144 cents per share, an increase 
of 47% on 2017.

At a time when so many of our institutions are confronting 
a loss of public trust, companies like Woodside demonstrate 
that big businesses are a vital part of the community. Our big 
companies make a signi�cant economic and social contribution, 
underpinning employment and tax revenue.1 

These companies produce the goods and services that our 
community relies on, developing the resources that power our 
economy and our households. The best of our big companies 
engage in a meaningful way with those who live and work 
alongside them, forming long-term relationships with groups 
that sustain and enrich the life of a community. 

I have long admired Woodside for its dedication to operational 
excellence and for the signi�cant contribution it makes to 
the Australian economy and community. In all its activities, 
Woodside is guided by a strong company culture that values 
integrity and is founded on the commitment to doing the right 
thing by our customers, our partners and our communities. 
It is an honour to take on the role of Chairman at a time 
when Woodside is progressing growth plans that will bring 
considerable bene�ts to Australia. Our plans to make signi�cant 
investment in Australian natural gas projects will underpin jobs 
and economic growth in our country while providing a reliable 
energy source to local and global customers. 

Our shareholders, who provide the equity capital for our 
investments, will bene�t as we prepare to produce extra LNG 
right at a time when the world needs it. 

In early 2018, we outlined our proposals to develop the 
Scarborough and Browse resources through our existing 
infrastructure on the Burrup Peninsula, while also progressing 

Richard Goyder, AO
Chairman

1.	 Woodside paid A$894 million (approximately US$668 million equivalent) in 
tax and royalties in Australia in 2018 and A$4.9 billion over the past �ve years.
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CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER�S 
REPORT

Peter Coleman
Chief Executive O�cer  
and Managing Director

Woodside has achieved a lot in 2018, delivering 
strong �nancial results, solid production and 
impressive progress on our growth plans. 

A successful equity raising early in the year set up our �nances 
to support a growth phase that is timed well to capture the 
emerging global LNG shortfall. 

Financially, we have had a very good year in 2018, achieving 
a 32% increase in our operating revenue, to $5.2 billion, and a 
28% increase in net pro�t after tax. These strong results were 
underpinned by increased production due to the start-up of 
major projects, higher prices and discipline on costs. 

Looking to 2019, our expected capital requirements are similar 
to 2018 as we complete projects while preparing for growth. 

Our story began 65 years ago when a new company was formed 
and named after a small town in Victoria�s Gippsland Basin.  
That junior explorer would go on to develop the North West 
Shelf, becoming the pioneer of the LNG industry in Australia. 

That spirit is alive and well as we pursue proposals to develop 
some 20 to 25 trillion cubic feet of gross dry gas resources 
from the Scarborough and Browse �elds o� Western Australia. 

Even as we plan for growth, we remain committed to 
excellence in our base business, achieving high reliability and 
globally competitive costs of production, while ensuring a 
strong safety culture and performance.

Our growth plans will more than double Woodside�s equity 
LNG production by 2027 and deliver signi�cant bene�ts to 
shareholders and to the broader community. 

The timing is right for these developments and Woodside has 
the resources, facilities and expertise to deliver them. 

We�ve set ambitious timelines � and have shown in 2018 that 
we intend to keep them. Our progress has been aided by the 
fact it is a good time to engage leading contractors, early in the 
commodity cycle. 

We�ve demonstrated our expertise in project delivery, with the 
Greater Western Flank Phase 2 Project coming in $630 million 
under budget and six months ahead of schedule. Our near-term 
growth plans took another step forward as Wheatstone train 2 
started up, with production exceeding expectations. 
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EXECUTIVE 
MANAGEMENT

Robert Edwardes 
BSc (Engineering), PhD
Executive Vice President 
Development

++ Engineering
++ Projects
++ Developments
++ �International Development 
O�ces

Peter Coleman 
BEng, MBA, FTSE
Chief Executive O�cer  
and Managing Director

Reinhardt Matisons 
BEng, MBA, MIE Aust, CPEng, CPA 
Executive Vice President 
Marketing, Trading  
and Shipping

++ Marketing
++ Power and New Markets
++ Shipping
++ Trading
++ �International Marketing O�ces

Meg O’Neill 
BSc (Ocean Engineering),  
BSc (Chemical Engineering), MSc

Executive Vice President  
and Chief Operations O�cer

++ Producing Business Units
++ Operations and Maintenance
++ Drilling and Completions
++ Logistics
++ �Health, Safety, Environment 
and Quality

++ Subsea and Pipelines
++ Reservoir Management
++ Power

Shaun Gregory 
BSc (Hons), MBT
Executive Vice President 
Exploration and 
Chief Technology O�cer

++ Exploration
++ Development Planning
++ Digital
++ Geoscience
++ Technology
++ �New Energy and  
Carbon Abatement

Sherry Duhe 
BS (Accounting), MBA
Executive Vice President  
and Chief Financial O�cer

++ �Finance, Tax, Treasury  
and Insurance 

++ Commercial
++ �Business Development  
and Growth

++ �Contracting and Procurement
++ Investor Relations
++ �Strategy, Planning and Analysis
++ Performance Excellence

Jacky Connolly 
BCom, MOHS
Vice President  
People and Global Capability

++ People and Global Capability
++ Employee Engagement

Michael Abbott 
BJuris, LLB, BA, MBA
Senior Vice President 
Corporate and Legal

++ Audit
++ �Business Climate and Energy 
Outlook

++ Corporate A�airs
++ Legal and Secretariat
++ Risk and Compliance
++ �Security and Emergency 
Management

++ �Global Property and Workplace

Michael Abbott, Sherry Duhe, Reinhardt Matisons, Meg O’Neill, Peter Coleman, Robert Edwardes, Jacky Connolly and Shaun Gregory





14   Woodside Petroleum Ltd��|��Annual Report 2018

GLOBAL

OUR AREAS  
OF ACTIVITY

Gas Producing assets

Product type Phase

Appraisal and explorationGas or oil

DevelopmentsOil

*Denotes marketing o�ce
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Beijing*
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++ Lower capital intensity developments​

++ New revenue streams​

++ Preparing for Horizon II growth

++ New growth platforms through 
exploration​ and acquisitions

++ Expanding the LNG market 

In Horizon I we are delivering the committed growth that will underpin 
targeted production of approximately 100 MMboe in 2020, as we invest 
in our signi�cant LNG projects. We have new revenue streams from 
Wheatstone LNG and Greater Western Flank Phase 2, and Greater En�eld 
is expected to commence production in 2019. Progression of our LNG 
developments is a priority through this period as we seek to deliver 
successful projects which meet growing Asian LNG demand. 

STRATEGY 
AND CAPITAL 
MANAGEMENT

We have a clear strategy to deliver superior shareholder returns across three distinct time horizons.

These horizons are characterised by cash generation  
(2017�2021), unlocking value (2022�2026) and repeating  
our successes (2027+).

As a low cost and high margin producer, Woodside is uniquely 
positioned as the global LNG market rebalances  
and grows into the future.

++ Developments leveraging existing 
infrastructure​

++ Growth funded by base business  
and Horizon I growth

++ Monetise exploration and  
acquisition success​

++ Increase supply to new and 
traditional markets

We are targeting signi�cant new production early in Horizon II.  
First oil from Phase I of the SNE oil development o�shore Senegal 
is expected in 2022. We are targeting Scarborough upstream RFSU 
in 2023, Pluto LNG Train 2 RFSU in 2024; and Browse RFSU for the 
�rst FPSO in 2026 and the second in 2027. These developments will 
signi�cantly increase our developed reserve base and contribute to 
earnings for years to come. We are also seeking to establish new 
production from our resources in Myanmar within this horizon. 

++ Capital-e�cient developments​

++ Unlock new major hubs

Within our portfolio, we have resources identi�ed for production 
in Horizon III. These include the Sunrise resource located 450 
km north-west of Darwin, and our signi�cant resource position 
in the Liard and Horn River basins supporting the Kitimat LNG 
development in British Columbia, Canada. 

OUTSTANDING BASE BUSINESS 
SUSTAINABLE ENERGY 

HORIZON I	 2017�2021

HORIZON II	 2022�2026

HORIZON III	 2027+

CASH GENERATION

VALUE UNLOCKED

SUCCESS REPEATED
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OUR BUSINESS 
MODEL AND  
VALUE CHAIN
Woodside�s business model seeks to maximise the value of its portfolio across the value chain. This is 
achieved by prioritising competitive growth opportunities; by utilising our operational, development and 
drilling capabilities; and by deepening relationships in LNG markets with strong demand growth. We do 
this with the objective of generating superior shareholder returns across the three horizons and beyond.

Our operations are characterised by strong safety and environmental performance in remote and 
challenging locations. As Australia�s premier LNG operator, our operated assets include the NWS 
Project and Pluto LNG. We also operate two FPSO facilities and have a non-operated interest in 
Wheatstone LNG. By adopting technology, a continuous improvement mindset and an e�cient, 
well planned, cost competitive operating model, we have been able to reduce operating costs, 
increase production rates and improve safety performance to optimise the value of our assets. 

OPERATE
Record LNG production of  
72 MMboe.

2018 illustrations

We are building on over 30 years of development expertise from our assets in Western Australia  
by investing in opportunities in Australia, Senegal, Myanmar, Canada and Timor-Leste. During 
the development phase, we maximise value by selecting the most competitive concept for 
extracting, processing and delivering hydrocarbon products to market. Once the value of the 
development is con�rmed, and approvals are received, a �nal investment decision is made and 
project delivery and construction commence.

DEVELOP
Assumed operatorship, 
commenced FEED activities 
and received approval for 
the Environmental and Social 
Impact Assessment for the SNE 
Field Development Phase 1.

Our marketing and trading strategy is to build a diverse customer portfolio and pursue 
additional sales agreements, underpinned by reliable domestic gas and LNG production, 
supplemented by globally sourced volumes. Our relationships with customers in Australian and 
international energy markets have been maintained through a track record of reliable delivery 
and expertise across contracting, marketing and trading. In addition to long-term sales, we 
pursue near-term value accretive arrangements through spot and mid-term sales and LNG 
shipping transactions. 

MARKET
Several new domestic gas and 
LNG agreements executed for 
mid- and long-term supply. 

Individual assets within our portfolio have a �nite life. Decommissioning is integrated into 
project planning, from the earliest stages of development through to the end of �eld life.  
At appropriate intervals, we consider opportunities to divest ourselves of assets to maximise 
the value of our portfolio. Our decommissioning planning is implemented at the appropriate 
time. Through working together with our partners and technical experts, we are able to  
identify the most sustainable and bene�cial post-closure options that minimise �nancial,  
social and environmental impacts. 

DECOMMISSION AND DIVEST
Decommissioning of the 
Nganhurra FPSO following 
cessation of production in 
November 2018.

We grow our portfolio through acquisitions and exploration, based on a disciplined 
approach to increasing shareholder value and appropriately managing risk. We look for 
material positions in world-class assets and basins that are aligned with our capabilities and 
existing portfolio. We assess acquisition opportunities that complement our discovered and 
undiscovered resource base. 

ACQUIRE AND EXPLORE
Acquired an additional 50% 
interest in WA-1-R, containing  
the majority of the Scarborough 
gas �eld. 
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Signi�cant changes in the current reporting period
The �nancial performance and position of the Group were particularly a�ected by the following events and transactions during the 
reporting period:

�	 Wheatstone LNG Train 2 and Greater Western Flank Phase 2 commenced production. Refer to Note A.1 for the assets� results for the period.

�	 The Company completed an equity raising of 93,706,646 shares at a discounted price of A$27.00 per share. The net proceeds from the 
equity raising were US$1,949 million. For more details, refer to Note A.4 and C.3.

�	 The purchase of ExxonMobil�s interests in the Scarborough area assets on 29 March 2018, for a total purchase consideration of            
US$444 million. For more details, refer to Note B.5.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2018

 ����
Restated* 

����
 Notes US�m US�m

Operating revenue A�� ������ ������
Cost of sales A�� (�����) (�����)
Gross pro�t � ������ ������
Other income A�� ��� ���
Other expenses A�� (���) (���)
Pro�t before tax and net �nance costs � ������ ������
Finance income � ��� ���
Finance costs A�� (���) (��)
Pro�t before tax ������ ������
Petroleum resource rent tax (PRRT) bene�t A�� ��� ����
Income tax expense A�� (���) (���)
Pro�t after tax ������ ������
Pro�t attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent ������ ������
Non-controlling interest E�� ���� ���

Pro�t for the period ������ ������
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the parent (US cents) A�� ���
�� ������

The accompanying notes form part of the Financial Statements.
*Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2017 Annual Financial Statements, refer to Note E.10(b).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2018

 ����
Restated* 

����
 US�m US�m

Pro�t for the period ������ ������

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassi�ed to the income statement in subsequent periods:
Losses on hedges - (�)
Tax e�ect on employee share plans (�) ��

Items that will not be reclassi�ed to the income statement in subsequent periods:
Remeasurement gains on de�ned bene�t plan �� ��

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the period, net of tax (�) ���
Total comprehensive income for the period ������ ������
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent ������ ������
Non-controlling interest ���� ���
Total comprehensive income for the period ������ ������

The accompanying notes form part of the Financial Statements.
*Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2017 Financial Statements, refer to Note E.10(b).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2018

����
Restated* 

����
 Notes US�m US�m

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents C�� ������ ����
Receivables D�� ���� ����
Inventories D�� ���� ����
Other �nancial assets D�� ��� ���
Other assets ��� ���
Non-current assets held for sale D�� ��� -
Total current assets ������ ������

Non-current assets
Receivables D�� ���� ����
Other �nancial assets D�� ��� ���
Other assets ��� ��
Exploration and evaluation assets B�� ������ ������
Oil and gas properties B�� ������� �������
Other plant and equipment ���� ����
Deferred tax assets A�� ������ ������
Total non-current assets ������� �������
Total assets ������� �������

Current liabilities
Payables D�� ���� ����
Interest-bearing liabilities C�� ��� ���
Other �nancial liabilities D�� ��� ���
Other liabilities ��� ���
Provisions D�� ���� ����
Tax payable A�� ��� ���
Total current liabilities ������ ������

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities C�� ������ ������
Deferred tax liabilities A�� ������ ������
Other �nancial liabilities D�� ��� ���
Other liabilities ��� ���
Provisions D�� ������ ������
Total non-current liabilities ������ ������
Total liabilities ������ ������
Net assets ������� �������

Equity 
Issued and fully paid shares C�� ������ ������
Shares reserved for employee share plans C�� (��) (��)
Other reserves C�� ���� ����
Retained earnings ������ ������
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent ������� �������
Non-controlling interest E�� ���� ����
Total equity ������� �������

The accompanying notes form part of the Financial Statements.
*Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2017 Financial Statements, refer to Note E.10(b).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

 ����
Restated* 

����
 Notes US�m US�m

Cash �ows from operating activities �
Pro�t after tax for the period ������ ������
Adjustments for:
Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation ������ ������
Change in fair value of derivative �nancial instruments (�) (�)
Net �nance costs ���� ���
Tax expense ���� ����
Exploration and evaluation written o� ��� ���
Impairment loss ��� -
Other �� ���

Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (��) ��
Decrease/(increase) in inventories ��� (��)
Decrease in provisions (��) (��)
Decrease/(increase) in other assets and liabilities ��� (��)
Decrease in trade and other payables (�) (�)

Cash generated from operations ������ ������
Purchases of shares and payments relating to employee share plans (��) (��)
Interest received ��� ���
Dividends received �� ��
Borrowing costs relating to operating activities (���) (��)
Income tax paid (���) (���)
PRRT received � �
Payments for restoration (�) (��)
Net cash from operating activities ������ ������

Cash �ows used in investing activities
Payments for capital and exploration expenditure (�����) (�����)
Proceeds from disposal of other plant and equipment ��� -
Borrowing costs relating to investing activities (��) (���)
Payments for acquisition of joint arrangements net of cash acquired B�� (���) -
Net cash used in investing activities (�����) (�����)

Cash �ows used in �nancing activities

Proceeds from borrowings C�� - ������
Repayment of borrowings C�� (�����) (�����)
Borrowing costs relating to �nancing activities (��) (��)
Contributions to non-controlling interests (���) (��)
Dividends paid (���) (���)
Net proceeds from equity raising ������ -
Net cash used in �nancing activities (���) (���)

Net increase in cash held ������ ���
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period ���� ����
E�ects of exchange rate changes (�) ��
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period C.1 ������ ����

The accompanying notes form part of the Financial Statements.
*Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2017 Financial Statements, refer to Note E.10(b).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Notes C
� C
� C
� C
� C
� E
�
� US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m

At 1 January 2018 ������ (��) ���� ���� (��) ������ ������� ���� �������
Pro�t for the period - - - - - ������ ������ ���� ������
Other comprehensive loss - - (�) - - - (�) - (�)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period - - (�) - - ������ ������ ���� ������
Shares issued ������ - - - - - ������ - ������
Share issue costs (net of tax) (��) - - - - - (��) - (��)
Employee share plan purchases - (��) - - - - (��) - (��)
Employee share plan redemptions - ��� (��) - - - - - -
Share-based payments - - ��� - - - ��� - ���
Dividends paid - - - - - (���) (���) (���) (�����)
At 31 December 2018 ������ (��) ���� ���� (��) ������ ������� ���� �������

At 1 January 2017 (restated*) ������ (��) ���� ���� (��) ������ ������� ���� �������
Pro�t for the period (restated*) - - - - - ������ ������ ��� ������
Other comprehensive income/(loss) - - ��� - (�) - ��� - ���
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (restated*) - - ��� - (�) ������ ������ ��� ������
Employee share plan purchases - (��) - - - - (��) - (��)
Employee share plan redemptions - ��� (��) - - - - - -
Share-based payments - - ��� - - - ��� - ���
Dividends paid - - - - - (���) (���) (��) (���)
At 31 December 2017 (restated*) ������ (��) ���� ���� (��) ������ ������� ���� �������

The accompanying notes form part of the Financial Statements.
*Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2017 Financial Statements, refer to Note E.10(b).
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About these statements
Woodside Petroleum Ltd (Woodside or the Group) is a for-
pro�t entity limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. Its shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities 
Exchange. The nature of the operations and the principal activities 
of the Group are described in the Directors� Report and in the 
segment information in Note A.1.

The �nancial statements were authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the directors on 14 February 2019.

Statement of compliance
The �nancial statements are general purpose �nancial statements, 
which have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards 
(AASBs) and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board. The �nancial statements 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)  
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The accounting policies are consistent with those disclosed in the 
2017 Financial Statements, except for the impact of all new or 
amended standards and interpretations. The adoption of these 
standards and interpretations did not result in any signi�cant 
changes to the Group�s accounting policies, with the exception 
of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (AASB 15) 
(refer to Note E.10(b)). The Group early adopted AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments (AASB 9) on 1 January 2017. 

The Group has not elected to early adopt any new or amended 
standards or interpretations that are issued but not yet e�ective. 

Currency
The functional and presentation currency of Woodside Petroleum 
Ltd and all its subsidiaries is US dollars.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the 
functional currency of the transacting entity at the exchange rates 
ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
translated at the rates of exchange ruling at that date. Exchange 
di�erences in the consolidated �nancial statements are taken to 
the income statement.

Rounding of amounts
The amounts contained in these �nancial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest million dollars under the option available 
to the Group under Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (ASIC) Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors� 
Reports) Instrument 2016/191 dated 24 March 2016, unless 
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation
The �nancial statements have been prepared on a historical cost 
basis, except for derivative �nancial instruments and certain other 
�nancial assets and �nancial liabilities, which have been measured 
at fair value or amortised cost adjusted for changes in fair  
value attributable to the risks that are being hedged in e�ective 
hedge relationships.

The �nancial statements comprise the �nancial results of the 
Group and its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year (refer to 
Section E). 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control 
is obtained by the Group and cease to be consolidated from the 
date at which the Group ceases to have control.

The �nancial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies. All intercompany balances and transactions, 
including unrealised pro�ts and losses arising from intra-group 
transactions, have been eliminated in full.

The consolidated �nancial statements provide comparative 
information in respect of the previous period. A reclassi�cation of 
items in the �nancial statements of the previous period has been 
made in accordance with the classi�cation of items in the �nancial 
statements of the current period.

Non-controlling interests are allocated their share of the net 
pro�t after tax in the consolidated income statement, their share 
of other comprehensive income net of tax in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income and are presented within 
equity in the consolidated statement of �nancial position, 
separately from parent shareholders� equity.

Financial and capital risk management 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment 
and oversight of the Group�s risk management framework, including 
review and the approval of the Group�s risk management strategy, 
policy and key risk parameters. The Board of Directors and the Audit 
and Risk Committee have oversight of the Group�s internal control 
system and risk management process, including the oversight of the 
internal audit function.

The Group�s management of �nancial and capital risks is aimed  
at ensuring that available capital, funding and cash �ows are  
su�cient to:
�	 meet the Group�s �nancial commitments as and when  

they fall due;

�	 maintain the capacity to fund its committed project 
developments;

�	 pay a reasonable dividend; and

�	 maintain a long-term credit rating of not less than  
�investment grade�.

The Group monitors and tests its forecast �nancial position against 
these criteria and, in general, will undertake hedging activity only 
when necessary to ensure that these objectives are achieved.

Other circumstances that may lead to hedging activities include the 
management of exposures relating to trading activities, the purchase 
of reserves and the underpinning of the economics of a new project. 
It is, and has been throughout the period, the Group Treasury 
policy that no speculative trading in �nancial instruments shall be 
undertaken. Refer to the risk section of the Operating and Financial 
Review on pages 60�62 for more information on the Group�s 
objectives, policies and processes for managing �nancial risk.

The below risks arise in the normal course of the Group�s business. 
Risk information can be found in the following sections:

Section A Commodity price risk Page 107
Section A Foreign exchange risk Page 107
Section C Capital risk Page 117
Section C Liquidity risk Page 117
Section C Interest rate risk Page 117
Section D Credit risk Page 121
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In this section
This section addresses �nancial performance of the Group for the reporting period including, where applicable, the accounting policies 
applied and the key estimates and judgements made. The section also includes the tax position of the Group for and at the end of the 
reporting period.

A. Earnings for the year
A.1 Segment revenue and expenses Page 108
A.2 Finance costs Page 110
A.3 Dividends paid and proposed Page 110
A.4 Earnings per share Page 110 
A.5 Taxes Page 110

Key financial and capital risks in this section

Commodity price risk management 
The Group�s revenue is exposed to commodity price �uctuations. Commodity prices are measured by monitoring and stress testing 
the Group�s forecast �nancial position to sustained periods of low oil and gas prices. This analysis is regularly performed on the Group�s 
portfolio and, as required, for discrete projects and acquisitions.

As at the reporting date, the Group had no �nancial instruments with material exposure to commodity price risk.

Foreign exchange risk management 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commitments, �nancial assets and �nancial liabilities that are not denominated in US dollars.  
The majority of the Group�s revenue is denominated in US dollars. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from operating and 
capital expenditure incurred in currencies other than US dollars, particularly Australian dollars.

Measuring the exposure to foreign exchange risk is achieved by regularly monitoring and performing sensitivity analysis on the  
Group�s �nancial position.

A reasonably possible change in the exchange rate of the US dollar to the Australian dollar (+12%/-12% (2017: +12%/-12%)), with all other 
variables held constant, would not have a material impact on the Group�s equity or the pro�t or loss in the current period. Refer to Notes 
C.1, C.2, D.1 and D.3 for detail of the denomination of cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing liabilities, receivables and payables held at  
31 December 2018.

In order to hedge the foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk (refer to Section C) of a Swiss Franc (CHF) denominated medium-term 
note, Woodside holds a number of cross-currency interest rate swaps (refer to Note C.2). The aim of this hedge is to convert the �xed 
interest CHF bond into variable interest US dollar debt.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A. EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A. EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR
for the year ended 31 December 2018

A.1	 Segment revenue and expenses 

Operating segment information
The Group has identi�ed its operating segments based on the 
internal reports that are reviewed and used by the executive 
management team in assessing performance and in determining 
the allocation of resources. The producing operating segments 
are consistent with the 2017 Financial Statements. In the reporting 
period, the Group�s development projects have been consolidated 
into one development segment for internal reporting purposes 
which comprises the Browse, Scarborough, Kitimat, Myanmar, 
Sunrise and Senegal projects. With the exception of Browse, 
which was previously a separate reporting segment, all other 
projects were previously included in the other reporting segment. 
Comparatives have been restated to re�ect the updated operating 
segments reported internally.

Management monitors the performance of the operating results 
of the segments separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. The 
performance of operating segments is evaluated based on pro�t 
before tax and net �nance costs and is measured in accordance 
with the Group�s accounting policies. 

Financing requirements, including cash and debt balances, �nance 
income, �nance costs and taxes are managed at a Group level.

Operating segments outlined below are identi�ed by 
management based on the nature and geographical location  
of the business or venture.

Major customer information
The Group has two major customers which account for 19% and 
14% of the Group�s external revenue. The sales are generated by 
the Pluto and North West Shelf operating segments (2017: two 
customers; 20% and 15%).

Revenue�from�external�
customers� Non-current�assets�

����
Restated�

����� ����
Restated�

�����

US�m US�m US�m US�m
Oceania ���� ���� ������� �������
Asia ������ ������ ���� ����
Canada �� ��� ������ ������
Africa - - ���� ����
Other ���� ���� ��� ��
Consolidated ������ ������ ������� �������
1.	 Revenue is attributable to geographic location based on the location of the customers. 
2.	 Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets of US$1,179 million  

(2017: US$1,125 million).
3.	 2017 amounts have been restated for the retrospective application of AASB 15.

Recognition and measurement 
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is recognised when or as the Group transfers control of 
products or provides services to a customer at the amount to which 
the Group expects to be entitled. If the consideration includes a 
variable component, the expected consideration is adjusted for 
the estimated impact of the variable component at the point of 
recognition and re-estimated at every reporting period.

�	 Revenue from sale of produced hydrocarbons
Revenue from the sale of produced hydrocarbons is recognised 
at a point in time when control of the product is transferred to 
the customer, which is typically on delivery.

Revenue from take or pay contracts is recognised in earnings when 
the product has been drawn by the customer (transfer of control) 
and recorded as unearned revenue until drawn by the customer.

�	 Other operating revenue
Revenue earned from LNG processing and other services is 
recognised over time as the services are rendered.

Trading and other hydrocarbon revenue earned from sales 
of third-party products is recognised at a point in time when 
control of the product is transferred to the customer, which is 
typically on delivery.

Expenses
�	 Royalties and excise duty 

Royalties and excise duty under existing regimes are considered 
to be production-based taxes and are therefore accrued on the 
basis of the Group�s entitlement to physical production.

Producing 
North West Shelf Project � Exploration, evaluation, 
development, production and sale of lique�ed natural gas, 
pipeline natural gas, condensate and lique�ed petroleum gas 
from the North West Shelf ventures.

Pluto LNG � Exploration, evaluation, development, production 
and sale of lique�ed natural gas and condensate in assigned 
permit areas.

Australia Oil � Exploration, evaluation, development, 
production and sale of crude oil in assigned permit areas 
(North West Shelf, En�eld and Vincent).

Wheatstone LNG � Exploration, evaluation, development, 
production and sale of lique�ed natural gas and condensate in 
assigned permit areas.

Development 
Development segments � This segment comprises 
exploration, evaluation and development of lique�ed natural 
gas and condensate in the Browse, Scarborough, Kitimat, 
Myanmar, Sunrise and Senegal projects. 

Other 
Other segments � This segment comprises trading and 
shipping activities and activities undertaken in other 
international locations.

Unallocated items � Unallocated items comprise primarily 
corporate non-segmental items of revenue and expenses and 
associated assets and liabilities not allocated to operating 
segments as they are not considered part of the core 
operations of any segment.

Key estimates and judgements
Revenue from contracts with customers 
Judgment is required to determine the point at which the customer 
obtains control of hydrocarbons. Factors including transfer of legal title, 
transfer of signi�cant risks and rewards of ownership and the existence 
of a present right to payment for the hydrocarbons typically result in 
control transferring on delivery of hydrocarbons at port of loading or 
port of discharge.

The transaction price at the date control passes for sales made subject to 
provisional pricing periods in oil and condensate contracts is determined 
with reference to quoted commodity prices.

Progress of performance obligations for LNG processing services 
revenue recognised over time is measured using the output method 
which most accurately measures the progress towards satisfaction of the  
performance obligation of the services provided.
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Producing Development Other

 North�West�
Shelf Pluto Australia�Oil Wheatstone Development Other�segments

Unallocated�
items Consolidated

���� ����� ���� ����� ���� ����� ���� ����� ���� ����� ���� ����� ���� ����� ���� �����

US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m
Lique�ed natural gas ������ ���� ������ ������ - - ���� �� - - - - - - ������ ������
Pipeline natural gas ��� ���� - - - - - - �� ��� - - - - ��� ����
Condensate ���� ���� ���� ���� - - ��� - - - - - - - ���� ����
Oil - - - - ���� ���� - - - - - - - - ���� ����
Lique�ed petroleum 
gas ��� ��� - - - - - - - - - - - - ��� ���
Revenue from 
sale of produced 
hydrocarbons ������ ������ ������ ������ ���� ���� ���� �� �� ��� - - - - ������ ������
Processing and services 
revenue - - ���� ���� - - - - - - - - - - ���� ����
Trading revenue - - ��� ��� - - - - - - ���� ��� - - ���� ���
Other hydrocarbon 
revenue - - - ��� - - �� ��� - - - - - - �� ���
Other revenue - - ���� ���� - - �� ��� - - ���� ��� - - ���� ����
Operating revenue 
from contracts with 
customers ������ ������ ������ ������ ���� ���� ���� ��� �� ��� ���� ��� - - ������ ������
Production costs (���) (���) (���) (���) (���) (���) (��) (��) (�) (��) - - - (�) (���) (���)
Royalties and excise (���) (���) - - (�) (�) - - - - - - - - (���) (���)
Insurance (�) (�) (��) (��) (�) (�) (�) - - - - (�) (��) (�) (��) (��)
Inventory movement - (�) (�) ��� (��) (�) (�) ��� - - - - - - (��) ���
Provision adjustment - - - - - ���� - - - - - - - - - ����
Costs of production (���) (���) (���) (���) (���) (��) (��) (�) (�) (��) - (�) (��) (�) (���) (���)
Land and buildings (�) (�) (��) (��) - - (��) (�) - - - - - - (��) (��)
Transferred exploration 
and evaluation (��) (�) (��) (��) (�) (�) (��) (�) - - - - - - (��) (��)
Plant and equipment (���) (���) (���) (���) (��) (��) (���) (��) - - - - - - (�����) (�����)
Marine vessels and 
carriers (�) (�) - - - - - - - - - - - - (�) (�)
Oil and gas properties 
depreciation and 
amortisation (���) (���) (���) (���) (��) (��) (���) (��) - - - - - - (�����) (�����)
Shipping and direct 
sales costs (��) (��) (���) (��) - - (��) - - - - - (��) (��) (���) (���)
Trading costs - - (��) (��) - - - - - - (���) (��) - - (���) (��)
Other hydrocarbon 
costs - - - (��) - - (�) (��) - - - - - - (�) (��)
Other cost of sales (��) (��) (���) (���) - - (��) (��) - - (���) (��) (��) (��) (���) (���)
Cost of sales (���) (���) (�����) (�����) (���) (���) (���) (��) (�) (��) (���) (��) (��) (��) (�����) (�����)
Trading intersegment 
adjustments (��) (��) (�) (��) - - (�) - - - ��� ��� - - - -
Gross pro�t ���� ���� ������ ������ ���� ���� ���� (��) - - �� ��� (��) (��) ������ ������

Other income ��� ��� �� - ��� �� ��� �� �� (�) �� �� ��� (�) ��� ���
Exploration and 
evaluation expenditure (�) (�) (�) (�) (�) (�) (�) (�) - - (���) (���) - - (���) (���)
Amortisation - - - - - - - - - - (��) (��) - - (��) (��)
Write-o�s - - - - - - - - - - (��) (��) - - (��) (��)
Exploration and 
evaluation (�) (�) (�) (�) (�) (�) (�) (�) - - (���) (���) - - (���) (���)

General, administrative 
and other costs (�) (�) (��) (�) (�) - - - - (�) (�) (�) (��) (��) (���) (��)
Depreciation of other 
plant and equipment - - - - - - - - - - (�) (�) (��) (��) (��) (��)
Other� (��) - - - - - - - - - - - (�) (�) (��) (�)
Other costs (��) (�) (��) (�) (�) - - - - (�) (�) (�) (��) (���) (���) (���)
Other expenses (��) (�) (��) (�) (�) (�) (�) (�) - (�) (���) (���) (��) (���) (���) (���)
Pro�t/(loss) before 
tax and net �nance 
costs ���� ���� ������ ������ ���� ���� ���� (��) �� (�) (���) (���) (���) (���) ������ ������

1.	 2017 amounts have been restated for the retrospective application of AASB 15 and the change of reporting segments.
2.	 Other comprises impairment losses on non-current assets held for sale as well as other expenses not associated with the ongoing operations of the business.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A. EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR
for the year ended 31 December 2018

A.1	 Segment revenue and expenses (cont.)
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A.2	 Finance costs

���� ����
US�m US�m

Interest on interest-bearing liabilities ���� ����
Accretion charge ��� ���
Other �nance costs ��� ���
Less: Finance costs capitalised against qualifying 
assets (��) (���)

���� ���

A.3	 Dividends paid and proposed
Woodside Petroleum Ltd, the parent entity, paid and proposed 
dividends set out below:

���� ����
US�m US�m

(a) Dividends paid during the �nancial year
Prior year fully franked �nal dividend US$0.49, 
paid on 22 March 2018 (2017: US$0.49, paid on 29 
March 2017) ���� ����
Current year fully franked interim dividend 
US$0.53 paid on 20 September 2018 (2017: 
US$0.49, paid on 21 September 2017) ���� ����

���� ����

(b) Dividend declared subsequent to the 
reporting period (not recorded as a liability)
Final dividend US$0.91 (2017: US$0.49) ��� ����

(c) Other information
Franking credits available for the subsequent 
periods ����� ������

Current year dividends per share (US cents) ��� ���

A.4	 Earnings per share

����
Restated�

����

Pro�t attributable to equity holders of the parent 
(US$m) ������ ������
Weighted average number of shares on issue ������������ ������������
Basic and diluted earnings per share (US cents) ���
�� ������

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing net pro�t for the 
year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue during the 
year. The weighted average number of shares makes allowance 
for shares reserved for employee share plans. 

During the period, the Company completed an equity raising of 
93,706,646 shares at a discounted price of A$27.00 per share. As 
a result of the new shares issued, the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares to calculate EPS was adjusted by a theoretical 
ex-rights price factor. The adjustment factor of 1.03 was used to 
restate the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
EPS calculation for all periods prior to the equity raising. Equity 
rights under employee share plans were adjusted in order to 
maintain value equivalence, resulting in an additional 53,656 rights 
under the Woodside Equity Plan and 24,079 rights under the 
Executive Incentive Plan.

Performance rights of 9,702,925 (2017: 10,006,241) are considered 
to be contingently issuable and have not been allowed for in the 
diluted earnings per share calculation. 

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares 
between the reporting date and the date of completion of these 
�nancial statements. 

A.5	 Taxes

����
Restated�

����
US�m US�m

(a) Tax expense comprises
PRRT

Current tax bene�t (�) (�)
Deferred tax bene�t (��) (���)

PRRT bene�t (��) (���)
Income tax
Current year

Current tax expense ���� ����
Deferred tax expense ���� ����

Adjustment to prior years
Current tax bene�t - (�)
Deferred tax (bene�t)/expense (�) ���

Income tax expense ���� ����

Tax expense ���� ����

(b) Reconciliation of income tax expense
Pro�t before tax ������ ������
PRRT bene�t ��� ����
Pro�t before income tax ������ ������
Income tax expense calculated at 30% ���� ����
Non-deductible items (�) ��
Foreign expenditure not brought to account ��� ���
Adjustment to prior years (�) ���
Foreign exchange impact on tax expense (�) ��
Income tax expense ���� ����

(c) Reconciliation of PRRT bene�t
Pro�t before tax ������ ������
Non-PRRT assessable pro�ts (�����) (�����)
PRRT projects pro�t before tax ���� ���
PRRT bene�t calculated at 40% ���� ���
Augmentation (���) (���)
Other ��� ���
PRRT bene�t (��) (���)

(d) Deferred tax income statement reconciliation
PRRT

Production and growth assets ���� (��)
Augmentation for current year (���) (���)
Provisions (��) ����
Other (��) (�)

PRRT deferred tax bene�t (��) (���)
Income tax

Oil and gas properties ��� ����
Exploration and evaluation assets ��� ��
Provisions (�) ���
PRRT liabilities ��� ���
Unused tax losses and tax credits ��� (��)
Other (��) (��)

Income tax deferred tax expense ���� ����
Deferred tax expense ���� ���

(e) Deferred tax balance sheet reconciliation
Deferred tax assets
PRRT

Production and growth assets ���� ����
Augmentation for current year ���� ����
Provisions ��� ���
Other (�) (��)

������ ������

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A. EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR
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����
Restated�

����
US�m US�m

(e) Deferred tax balance sheet reconciliation (cont.)
Deferred tax liabilities
PRRT

Production and growth assets ���� ����
Augmentation for current year (��) (�)
Provisions (���) (���)
Other (�) ���

Income tax
Oil and gas properties ������ ������
Exploration and evaluation assets ���� ����
Provisions (���) (���)
PRRT liabilities ���� ����
Unused tax losses and tax credits (��) (���)
Other� (��) (��)

������ ������

(f) Tax payable reconciliation
Income tax payable (��) (��)

(��) (��)
(g) E�ective income tax rate: Australian and global 
operations
E�ective�income�tax�rate�

Australia ��
�� �����
Global ��
�� �����

(h) Current year income tax expense reconciliation
Pro�t before income tax ����� �����
Income tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% ��� ���
Non-temporary�di�erences���� ��� ��
Temporary�di�erences��deferred�tax� (���) (���)
Current year income tax expense ��� ���

1.	 US$4 million (2017: US$8 million) movement recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

2.	 The global operations e�ective income tax rate (ETR) is calculated as the Group�s 
income tax expense divided by pro�t before income tax. The Australian operations 
ETR is calculated with reference to all Australian companies and excludes foreign 
exchange impact on tax expense.

3.	 Primarily expenditure in respect of foreign operations. Excludes foreign exchange 
impact on tax expense.

4.	 Excludes adjustment to prior years.

Tax transparency code 
Woodside participates in the Australian Board of Taxation�s 
voluntary Tax Transparency Code (TTC). To increase public 
con�dence in the contributions and compliance of corporate 
taxpayers, the TTC recommends public disclosure of tax 
information. Woodside has addressed the recommended 
disclosures in two parts. The Part A disclosures are addressed 
within this Taxes note; the Part B disclosures are addressed in our 
Sustainable Development Report.

Recognition and measurement 
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or 
the asset is realised. The tax rates and laws used to determine the 
amount are based on those that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. Income taxes relating to 
items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity. 

Current taxes 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable 
income for the year and any adjustment to tax payable in respect  
of previous years. 

Key estimates and judgements 

(a)	Income tax classi�cation 
Judgement is required when determining whether a particular tax is 
an income tax or another type of tax. Accounting for deferred tax is 
applied to income taxes as described above, but is not applied to other 
types of taxes, e.g. North West Shelf royalties and excise. Such taxes are 
recognised in the income statement on an appropriate basis. PRRT is 
considered, for accounting purposes, to be an income tax.

(b)	 Deferred tax asset recognition 
Australian tax losses: A deferred tax asset of US$73 million  
(2017: US$169 million) has been recognised from carry forward unused 
tax losses and credits. The Group has determined that it is probable that 
su�cient future taxable income will be available to utilise those losses 
and credits.

Foreign tax losses: Deferred tax assets of US$399 million  
(2017: US$403 million) relating to unused foreign tax losses have not 
been recognised on the basis that it is not probable that the assets will be 
utilised based on current planned activities in those regions.

PRRT: Certain deferred tax assets on deductible temporary di�erences 
have not been recognised on the basis that deductions from future 
augmentation of the deductible temporary di�erence will be su�cient 
to o�set future taxable pro�t. US$3,792 million (2017: US$3,722 million) 
relates to the North West Shelf Project, US$589 million (2017: US$501 
million) relates to the quarantined exploration spend of the Pluto Project 
and US$767 million (2017: US$680 million) relates to the Wheatstone 
Project. Future taxable pro�ts were determined using a long-term bond 
rate of 2.8% (2017: 2.5%) for the purposes of augmentation.

Had an alternative approach been used to assess recovery of the 
deferred tax assets, whereby future augmentation was not included in 
the assessment, the additional deferred tax assets would be recognised, 
with a corresponding bene�t to income tax expense. It was determined 
that the approach adopted provides the most meaningful information 
on the implications of the PRRT regime, whilst ensuring compliance with 
AASB 112 Income Taxes.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A. EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR
for the year ended 31 December 2018

A.5	 Taxes (cont.) Deferred taxes 
Deferred tax expense is the movements in the temporary 
di�erences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in 
the statement of �nancial position and its tax base. 

With the exception of those noted below, deferred tax liabilities 
are recognised for all taxable temporary di�erences. Deferred 
tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary di�erences, 
unused tax losses and tax credits only if it is probable that su�cient 
future taxable income will be available to utilise those temporary 
di�erences and losses. 

Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary di�erence arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
a�ects neither accounting pro�t nor the taxable pro�t. 

In relation to PRRT, the impact of future augmentation on 
expenditure is included in the determination of future taxable 
pro�ts when assessing the extent to which a deferred tax asset can 
be recognised in the statement of �nancial position. 

O�setting deferred tax balances 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are o�set only if there is a legally 
enforceable right to o�set current tax assets and liabilities and 
when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or di�erent taxable 
entities that the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis. Refer to Notes E.9 and E.10 for detail on 
the tax consolidated group.
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In this section
This section addresses the strategic growth (exploration and evaluation) and core producing (oil and gas properties) assets position 
of the Group at the end of the reporting period including, where applicable, the accounting policies applied and the key estimates and 
judgements made. The section also includes the impairment position of the Group at the end of the reporting period. 

B. Production and growth assets
B.1 Segment production and growth assets Page 113
B.2 Exploration and evaluation Page 114
B.3 Oil and gas properties Page 115
B.4 Impairment of oil and gas properties Page 116
B.5 Signi�cant production and growth asset acquisitions Page 116

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B. PRODUCTION AND GROWTH ASSETS
for the year ended 31 December 2018



	 Woodside Petroleum Ltd��|��Financial Statements� 113

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B. PRODUCTION AND GROWTH ASSETS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

B.1	 Segment production and growth assets

Producing Development Other

North�West�
Shelf Pluto Australia�Oil Wheatstone Development

Other�
segments Consolidated

���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ����� ���� ����� ���� ����
US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m

Balance as at 31 December
Oceania ��� ��� ���� ���� ��� ��� ��� �� ������ ���� ���� ���� ������ ������
Asia - - - - - - - - - - ���� ���� ���� ����
Canada - - - - - - - - ������ ������ - - ������ ������
Africa - - - - - - - - ���� ���� - ��� ���� ����
Other - - - - - - - - - - ��� �� ��� ��
Total exploration and evaluation ��� ��� ���� ���� ��� ��� ��� �� ������ ������ ���� ���� ������ ������

Balance as at 31 December
Land and buildings ��� ��� ���� ���� - - ���� ���� - - �� �� ������ ������
Transferred exploration and evaluation ���� ��� ���� ���� ��� ��� ���� ���� - - - - ���� ����
Plant and equipment ������ ������ ������ ������� ���� ���� ������ ������ - - �� �� ������� �������
Marine vessels and carriers ��� ���� - - - - �� �� - - - - ��� ����
Projects in development ��� ���� ���� ��� ������ ���� ���� ���� - - - - ������ ������
Total oil and gas properties ������ ������ ������� ������� ������ ���� ������ ������ - - �� �� ������� �������

Additions to exploration and evaluation:
Exploration - - ��� �� - - - - - ��� ��� ���� ���� ����
Evaluation - - �� ��� - - ��� �� ���� ���� ��� ��� ���� ����
Restoration - - (�) (�) - - - - (�) �� - - (�) (�)

- - ��� �� - - ��� �� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ����

Additions to oil and gas properties:
Oil and gas properties additions ���� ���� ���� ��� ���� ���� ���� ���� - - - - ���� ����
Capitalised�borrowing�costs�additions� �� �� - - ��� �� ��� ���� - - - - ��� ����
Restoration (��) ��� (�) ��� ��� �� (�) ��� - - - - ��� ���

���� ���� ���� ��� ���� ���� ���� ���� - - - - ���� ������

1.	 Borrowing costs capitalised were at a weighted average interest rate of 4.4% (2017: 4.0%).
2.	 2017 amounts have been restated for the change of reporting segments detailed in Note A.1.

Refer to Note A.1 for descriptions of the Group�s segments and geographical regions.
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B.2	 Exploration and evaluation
Oceania Asia Canada Africa Other Total

US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m

Year ended 31 December 2018
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 ������ ���� ������ ���� �� ������
Additions ���� ��� ��� ��� ��� ����
Amortisation of licence acquisition costs (��) (�) - (��) (�) (��)
Expensed� - (��) - (��) - (��)
Transferred exploration and evaluation (�) - - - - (�)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 ������ ���� ������ ���� ��� ������

Year ended 31 December 2017
Carrying amount at 1 January 2017 ������ ��� ������ ���� �� ������
Additions ��� ��� ��� ���� �� ����
Amortisation of licence acquisition costs (�) (�) - (��) (�) (��)
Expensed� (��) (��) - (�) - (��)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 ������ ���� ������ ���� �� ������

Exploration commitments
Year ended 31 December 2018 ��� ��� - �� ��� ����
Year ended 31 December 2017 ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ����

1.	 $94 million of exploration and evaluation expensed relates to unsuccessful wells written o� during the period (2017: $58 million). 

Recognition and measurement 
Expenditure on exploration and evaluation is accounted for 
in accordance with the area of interest method. The Group�s 
application of the accounting policy for the cost of exploring and 
of evaluating discoveries is closely aligned to the US GAAP-based 
successful e�orts method.

Areas of interest are based on a geographical area. All exploration 
and evaluation expenditure, including general permit activity, 
geological and geophysical costs and new venture activity costs, is 
expensed as incurred except for the following:
�	 where the expenditure relates to an exploration discovery that, 

at the reporting date, has not been recognised as an area of 
interest, because an assessment of the existence or otherwise of 
economically recoverable reserves is not yet complete; or

�	 where the expenditure relates to a recognised area of interest 
and it is expected that the expenditure will be recouped through 
successful exploitation of the area of interest, or alternatively, 
by its sale.

The costs of acquiring interests in new exploration and evaluation 
licences are capitalised. The costs of drilling exploration wells are 
initially capitalised pending the results of the well. 

Costs are expensed where the well does not result in the 
successful discovery of economically recoverable hydrocarbons 
and the recognition of an area of interest.

Subsequent to the recognition of an area of interest, all further 
evaluation costs relating to that area of interest are capitalised.

Upon approval for the commercial development of an area of 
interest, accumulated expenditure for the area of interest is 
transferred to oil and gas properties.

In the statement of cash �ows, those cash �ows associated  
with capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure,  
including unsuccessful wells, are classi�ed as cash �ows used  
in investing activities.

Exploration commitments 
The Group has exploration expenditure obligations which are 
contracted for, but not provided for in the �nancial statements. 
These obligations may be varied from time to time and are 
expected to be ful�lled in the normal course of operations  
of the Group.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B. PRODUCTION AND GROWTH ASSETS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Key estimates and judgements 
(a)	Area of interest 
An area of interest (AOI) is de�ned by the Group as an individual 
geographical area whereby the presence of hydrocarbons is considered 
favourable or proved to exist. The Group has established criteria 
to recognise and maintain an AOI. There is separate guidance for 
conventional and unconventional AOIs.

(b)	Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
The recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and 
evaluation assets is dependent on successful development and 
commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective AOI.

Each potential or recognised AOI is reviewed half-yearly to determine 
whether economic quantities of reserves have been found or whether 

further exploration and evaluation work is underway or planned to 
support continued carry forward of capitalised costs. Where a potential 
impairment is indicated, assessment is performed using a fair value less 
costs to dispose method to determine the recoverable amount for each 
AOI to which the exploration and evaluation expenditure is attributed.

This assessment requires management to make certain estimates and 
apply judgement in determining assumptions as to future events and 
circumstances, in particular, the assessment of whether economic 
quantities of reserves have been found. Any such estimates and 
assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after 
having capitalised expenditure under the policy, the Group concludes 
that it is unlikely to recover the expenditure by future exploitation or 
sale, then the relevant capitalised amount will be written o� to the 
income statement.
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B.3	 Oil and gas properties

Land�and�
buildings

Transferred�
exploration�and�

evaluation�
Plant�and�

equipment
Marine�vessels�

and�carriers
Projects�in�

development Total�
US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m

Year ended 31 December 2018
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 ������ ���� ������� ���� ������ �������
Additions - - (��) - ������ ����
Depreciation and amortisation (��) (��) (�����) (�) - (�����)
Impairment loss - - - (��) - (��)
Completions and transfers ��� ��� ���� (��) (���) (�)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 ������ ���� ������� ��� ������ �������

At 31 December 2018
Historical cost ������ ������ ������� ���� ������ �������
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (���) (���) (������) (���) (��) (������)
Net carrying amount ������ ���� ������� ��� ������ �������

Year ended 31 December 2017
Carrying amount at 1 January 2017 ���� ���� ������� ���� ������ �������
Additions - - ��� - ������ ������
Depreciation and amortisation (��) (��) (�����) (�) - (�����)
Completions and transfers ���� ���� ������ �� (�����) -
Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 ������ ���� ������� ���� ������ �������

At 31 December 2017
Historical cost ������ ������ ������� ���� ������ �������
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (���) (���) (������) (���) (���) (������)
Net carrying amount ������ ���� ������� ���� ������ �������

Recognition and measurement
Oil and gas properties are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment charges. Oil and gas properties 
include initial cost to acquire, construct, install or complete 
production and infrastructure facilities such as pipelines and 
platforms, capitalised borrowing costs, transferred exploration and 
evaluation assets, development wells and the estimated cost of 
dismantling and restoration.

Subsequent capital costs, including major maintenance, are 
included in the asset�s carrying amount only when it is probable 
that future economic bene�ts associated with the item will �ow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation and amortisation
Oil and gas properties and other plant and equipment are 
depreciated to their estimated residual values at rates based on 
their expected useful lives.

Transferred exploration and evaluation and o�shore plant and 
equipment are depreciated using the unit of production basis 
over proved plus probable reserves or proved reserves for late 
life assets. Onshore plant and equipment is depreciated using 
a straight-line basis over the lesser of useful life and the life of 
proved plus probable reserves. On a straight-line basis the assets 
have an estimated useful life of 5-50 years.

All other items of oil and gas properties are depreciated using the 
straight-line method over their useful life. They are depreciated  
as follows:

�	 Buildings � 24-40 years;

�	 Marine vessels and carriers � 
10-40 years;

�	 Other plant and equipment � 
5-15 years; and

�	 Land is not depreciated.

Impairment
Refer to Note B.4 for details on impairment.

Capital commitments
The Group has capital expenditure commitments contracted for, 
but not provided for in the �nancial statements of US$331 million 
(2017: US$535 million).

Key estimates and judgements 
Reserves
The estimations of reserves requires signi�cant management 
judgement and interpretation of complex geological and geophysical 
models in order to make an assessment of the size, shape, depth and 
quality of reservoirs, and their anticipated recoveries. 

Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are used to calculate 
depreciation, depletion and amortisation charges for the Group�s oil 
and gas properties. Judgement is used in determining the reserve base 
applied to each asset. Typically, late life oil assets use proved reserves. 

Estimates are reviewed at least annually or when there are changes 
in the economic circumstances impacting speci�c assets or asset 
groups. These changes may impact depreciation, asset carrying 
values, restoration provisions and deferred tax balances. If proved 
reserves estimates are revised downwards, earnings could be 
a�ected by higher depreciation expense or an immediate write-down 
of the asset�s carrying value. 

For more information regarding reserve assumptions, refer to the 
reserves and resources statement on pages 64�67 of the 
Annual Report.

Depreciation and amortisation
Judgment is required in determing the commencement of 
depreciation and amortisation for an asset and is at the point that the 
project is ready for start up. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B. PRODUCTION AND GROWTH ASSETS
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B. PRODUCTION AND GROWTH ASSETS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

B.4	 Impairment of oil and gas properties

Recognition and measurement 
Impairment testing
The carrying amounts of oil and gas properties are assessed half-
yearly to determine whether there is an indication of impairment 
or impairment reversal for those assets which have previously 
been impaired. Indicators of impairment and impairment reversals 
include changes in future selling prices, future costs and reserves. 

Oil and gas properties are assessed for impairment indicators and 
impairments on a cash generating unit (CGU) basis. CGUs are 
determined as a �oating production, storage and o�-take vessel 
and associated oil �elds for an oil asset and an LNG plant and 
associated gas �elds for a gas asset.

If there is an indicator of impairment or impairment reversal for  
a CGU then the recoverable amount is calculated.

Impairment calculations
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is determined as the 
higher of its value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. Value 
in use is determined by estimating future cash �ows after taking 
into account the risks speci�c to the asset and discounting it to its 
present value using an appropriate discount rate.

If the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset or CGU is written down and an impairment loss 
is recognised in the income statement.

For assets previously impaired, if the recoverable amount exceeds 
the carrying amount, the impairment loss is reversed. The carrying 
amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the asset�s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.

Recognised impairment and impairment reversal
The Group assessed each CGU to determine whether an indicator 
of impairment or impairment reversal existed. All impairment losses 
and reversals are recognised in other expenses. Refer to Note A.1.

The conditional sale of two LNG vessels in the North West Shelf 
operating segment resulted in an impairment loss of US$39 million 
as the assets� carrying value exceeded the fair value less costs of 
disposal. The fair value less costs of disposal was determined using 
in-principle sales agreements, classi�ed as Level 3 on the fair value 
hierarchy. Refer to Note D.7 for further details.

No other indicators of impairment or impairment reversal were 
identi�ed in 2017 or 2018.

Key estimates are disclosed in the �Key estimates and 
judgements� section.

B.5	 Significant production and growth  
asset acquisitions

On 29 March 2018, Woodside completed the acquisition of 
ExxonMobil�s 50% interest in WA-1-R, which contains the 
Scarborough gas �eld, for an aggregate purchase price of 
US$444 million. The transaction was accounted for as an asset 
acquisition. An additional US$300 million payment due to 
ExxonMobil is contingent on a positive �nal investment decision to 
develop the Scarborough �eld. In conjunction with the transaction, 
Woodside granted BHP Billiton an option to purchase an 
additional 10% interest in the Scarborough gas �eld on equivalent 
consideration terms to the transaction with ExxonMobil.

In addition to the contingent payment above, a US$150 million 
payment is due to BHP Billiton contingent on a positive �nal 
investment decision to develop the Scarborough �eld.

Both contingent payments associated with acquiring the 
Scarborough development are accounted for as contingent 
liabilities in accordance with the Group�s accounting policies.

Woodside now holds the following interest in Joint Operations 
relating to the Scarborough development:

�	 a 75% interest in WA-1-R and a 50% interest in WA-62-R, which 
together contain the Scarborough gas �eld;

�	 a 50% interest in WA-61-R which contains the Jupiter gas �eld; 
and

�	 a 50% interest in WA-63-R which contains the Thebe gas �eld.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
The identi�able assets and liabilities acquired as at the date of the 
acquisition inclusive of transaction costs were:

Scarborough
US�m

Exploration and evaluation assets ����
Total identi�able net assets at acquisition ����

Cash �ows on acquisition

Scarborough
US�m

Purchase cash consideration ����
Transaction�costs� -
Total purchase consideration ����
Net cash out�ows on acquisition ����

1.	 Transaction costs were less than US$0.5 million.

 

Key estimates and judgements
Impairment and impairment reversal indicator key 
assumptions 
In determining whether there is an indicator of impairment or 
impairment reversal, the Group considers whether there has been a 
signi�cant change in the following external and internal qualitative 
factors:

�	 Commodity prices - LNG, natural gas and oil.
�	 �Economic factors - interest rates, in�ation rates, foreign exchange 

rates and discount rates. 
�	 Operating performance of an asset.
�	 Reserve and resource estimates.
�	 Project concept / planned use of assets.
�	 Forecast project expenditure.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS C. DEBT AND CAPITAL
for the year ended 31 December 2018

In this section
This section addresses cash, debt and the capital position of the Group at the end of the reporting period including, where applicable, the 
accounting policies applied and the key estimates and judgements made.

C. Debt and capital
C.1 Cash and cash equivalents Page 118
C.2 Interest-bearing liabilities and �nancing facilities Page 118
C.3 Contributed equity Page 119
C.4 Other reserves Page 120

Key financial and capital risks in this section

Capital risk management
Capital management is undertaken to ensure that a secure, cost-e�ective and �exible supply of funds is available to meet the Group�s 
operating and capital expenditure requirements. A stable capital base is maintained from which the Group can pursue its growth 
aspirations, whilst maintaining a �exible capital structure that allows access to a range of debt and equity markets to both draw upon and 
repay capital.

The Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in 2003 for activation as required to 
fund future growth. The DRP has not been utilised since the fully underwritten 2015 �nal dividend.

A range of �nancial metrics are monitored, including gearing and cash �ow leverage, and Treasury policy breaches and exceptions.

Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk arises from the �nancial liabilities of the Group and the Group�s subsequent ability to meet its obligations to repay �nancial 
liabilities as and when they fall due. The liquidity position of the Group is managed to ensure su�cient liquid funds are available to meet its 
�nancial commitments in a timely and cost-e�ective manner.

The Group�s liquidity position is continually reviewed, including cash �ow forecasts, to determine the forecast liquidity position and 
maintain appropriate liquidity levels. At 31 December 2018, the Group has a total of US$3,918 million (2017: US$2,942 million) of available 
undrawn facilities and cash at its disposal. The maturity pro�le of interest-bearing liabilities is disclosed in Note C.2, and trade and other 
payables are disclosed in Note D.3. Financing facilities available to the Group are disclosed in Note C.2.

Interest rate risk management
Interest rate risk is the risk that the Group�s �nancial position will �uctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

The Group�s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to �nancial instruments with �oating interest rates 
including long-term debt obligations, cash and short-term deposits. The Group manages its interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate 
mix of �xed and �oating rate debt. To manage the ratio of �xed rate debt to �oating rate debt, the Group may enter into interest rate 
swaps. The Group holds cross-currency interest rate swaps to hedge the foreign exchange risk (refer to Section A) and interest rate risk of 
the CHF denominated medium term note.

At the reporting date, the Group was exposed to various benchmark interest rates that were not designated in cash �ow hedges,  
US$1,536 million (2017: US$84 million) on cash and cash equivalents, US$617 million (2017: US$1,020 million) on interest-bearing liabilities 
(excluding transaction costs) and US$12 million (2017: US$11 million) on cross-currency interest rate swaps.

A reasonably possible change in the USD London Interbank O�ered Rate (LIBOR) (+1.0%/-1.0% (2017: +1.0%/-1.0%)), with all variables held 
constant, would not have a material impact on the Group�s equity or the income statement in the current period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS C. DEBT AND CAPITAL
for the year ended 31 December 2018

 

C.1	 Cash and cash equivalents

���� ����
US�m US�m

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank ���� ����
Term deposits ������ �-�
Total cash and cash equivalents ������ ����

Recognition and measurement 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of �nancial position 
comprise cash at bank and short-term deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are 
stated at face value in the statement of �nancial position.

Foreign exchange risk 
The Group held US$64 million of cash and cash equivalents at  
31 December 2018 (2017: US$73 million) in currencies other  
than US dollars.

C.2	 Interest-bearing liabilities and financing facilities

Bilateral�
Facilities

Syndicated�
Facilities

JBIC 
Facility US�Bonds

Medium�Term�
Notes Total

US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m US�m

Year ended 31 December 2018
At 1 January 2018 ����� �(�) ����� ������� ����� �������
Repayments �(���) �-� �(��) �(���) �-� �(�����)
Fair value adjustment and foreign exchange movement �-� �-� �-� �-� ��� ���
Transaction costs capitalised and amortised ��� ��� �-� ��� �-� ���
Carrying value at 31 December 2018 �(�) �(�) ����� ������� ����� �������

Current �(�) �(�) ���� �(�) �-� ����
Non-current �(�) �-� ����� ������� ����� �������
Carrying value at 31 December 2018 �(�) �(�) ����� ������� ����� �������
Undrawn balance at 31 December 2018 ������� ����� �-� �-� �-� �������

Year ended 31 December 2017
At 1 January 2017 ����� ����� ����� ������� ����� �������
Repayments �(�����) �(���) �(��) �-� �-� �(�����)
Drawdowns ������� �-� �-� ����� �-� �������
Fair value adjustment and foreign exchange movement �-� �-� �-� �-� ��� ���
Transaction costs capitalised and amortised ��� ��� �-� �(�) �(�) �(�)
Carrying value at 31 December 2017 ����� �(�) ����� ������� ����� �������

Current �(�) �(�) ���� �(�) �-� ����
Non-current ����� �(�) ����� ������� ����� �������
Carrying value at 31 December 2017 ����� �(�) ����� ������� ����� �������
Undrawn balance at 31 December 2017 ������� ����� �-� �-� �-� �������

Recognition and measurement
All borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less transaction 
costs. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any 
di�erence between the proceeds received and the redemption 
amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of 
the borrowings using the e�ective interest method.

Borrowings designated as a hedged item are measured at amortised 
cost adjusted to record changes in the fair value of risks that are 
being hedged in fair value hedges. The changes in the fair value risks 
of the hedged item resulted in a loss of US$1 million being recorded 
(2017: loss of US$7 million), and a loss of US$1 million recorded on 
the hedging instrument (2017: gain of US$6 million).

All bonds, notes and facilities are subject to various covenants and 
a negative pledge restricting future secured borrowings, subject 
to a number of permitted lien exceptions. Neither the covenants 
nor the negative pledges have been breached at any time during 
the reporting period.

Foreign exchange risk
All interest-bearing liabilities are denominated in US dollars, 
excluding the CHF175 million medium term note.

Fair value 
The carrying amount of interest-bearing liabilities approximates 
their fair value, with the exception of the Group�s unsecured  
bonds and the medium term notes. The unsecured bonds have 
a carrying amount of US$3,284 million (2017: US$3,880 million) 
and a fair value of US$3,167 million (2017: US$3,985 million).  
The medium term notes have a carrying amount of US$373 million 
(2017: US$372 million) and a fair value of US$388 million  
(2017: US$399 million). The fair value of the bonds and notes  
was determined using quoted prices in an active market, 
classi�ed as Level 1 on the fair value hierarchy. The Group�s 
repayment obligations remain unchanged.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS C. DEBT AND CAPITAL
for the year ended 31 December 2018

C.2	 Interest-bearing liabilities and  
financing facilities (cont.)

Maturity pro�le of interest-bearing liabilities 
The table below presents the contractual undiscounted cash 
�ows associated with the Group�s interest-bearing liabilities, 
representing principal and interest. The �gures will not necessarily 
reconcile with the amounts disclosed in the consolidated 
statement of �nancial position.

���� ����
US�m US�m

Due for payment in:
1 year or less ���� ����
1-2 years ���� ������
2-3 years ���� ����
3-4 years ���� ����
4-5 years ���� ����
More than 5 years ������ ������

������ ������

Amounts exclude transaction costs.

 

Bilateral facilities
The Group has 14 bilateral loan facilities totalling US$1,444 million 
(2017: US$2,144 million). Details of bilateral loan facilities at the 
reporting date are as follows: 

Number�of�
facilities Term�(years) Currency Extension�option

� � USD Evergreen
� � USD Evergreen
� � USD Evergreen

Interest rates are based on USD LIBOR and margins are �xed 
at the commencement of the drawdown period. Interest is paid 
at the end of the drawdown period. Evergreen facilities may be 
extended continually by a year subject to the bank�s agreement.

Syndicated facility
On 3 July 2015, the Group executed an unsecured US$1,000 million 
syndicated loan facility, which was increased to US$1,200 million 
on 22 March 2016. On 15 November 2017, Woodside amended the 
existing facility to a US$800 million facility comprising two equal 
tranches, which now expire in July 2020 and July 2022. Interest 
rates are based on USD LIBOR plus 0.9% and USD LIBOR plus 
1.15% respectively. Interest is paid at the end of each  
drawdown period. 

Japan Bank for International Cooperation (JBIC) facility
On 24 June 2008, the Group entered into a two tranche 
committed loan facility of US$1,000 million and US$500 million 
respectively. The US$500 million tranche was repaid in 2013. 
There is a prepayment option for the remaining balance. Interest 
rates are based on LIBOR. Interest is payable semi-annually in 
arrears and the principal amortises on a straight-line basis, with 
equal instalments of principal due on each interest payment date 
(every six months). 

Under this facility, 90% of the receivables from designated Pluto 
LNG Project Sale and Purchase Agreements are secured in favour 
of the lenders through a trust structure, with a required reserve 
amount of US$30 million. 

To the extent that this reserve amount remains fully funded 
and no default notice or acceleration notice has been given, the 
revenue from the Pluto LNG Project continues to �ow directly to 
the Group from the trust account.

Medium term notes
On 28 August 2015, the Group established a US$3,000 million 
Global Medium Term Notes Programme listed on the Singapore 
Stock Exchange. Two notes have been issued under this program 
as set out below:

Maturity date Currency
Carrying�amount�

(million)
Nominal�interest�

rate

15 July 2022 USD �����
�Floating�three�

month�USD�LIBOR�
11 December 2023 CHF ����� ��

The unutilised program is not considered to be an unused facility.

US Bonds
The Group has four unsecured bonds issued in the United States 
of America as de�ned in Rule 144A of the US Securities Act of 1933 
as set out below:

Maturity date
Carrying�amount 

US�m Nominal�interest�rate

10 May 2021 ����� �����
5 March 2025 ������� �����
15 September 2026 ����� �����
15 March 2028 ����� �����

Interest on the bonds is payable semi-annually in arrears.

C.3	 Contributed equity 

Recognition and measurement
Issued capital
Ordinary shares are classi�ed as equity and recorded at the value 
of consideration received. The cost of issuing shares is shown in 
share capital as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Reserved shares
The Group�s own equity instruments, which are reacquired 
for later use in employee share-based payment arrangements 
(reserved shares), are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue  
or cancellation of the Group�s own equity instruments.

(a)	Issued and fully paid shares

Number�of�
shares US�m

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening balance ������������ ������
Equity raising - ordinary shares issued at A$27.00 ����������� ������
Share issue costs (net of tax) - (��)
Amounts as at 31 December 2018 ������������ ������

Year ended 31 December 2017
Opening and closing balance ������������ ������

All shares are a single class with equal rights to dividends, capital, 
distributions and voting. The Company does not have authorised 
capital nor par value in relation to its issued shares.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS C. DEBT AND CAPITAL
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C.3	 Contributed equity (cont.)
(b)	Shares reserved for employee share plans

Number�of�
shares US�m

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening balance ���������� (��)
Purchases during the year ���������� (��)
Vested during the year (���������) ���
Amounts at 31 December 2018 ���������� (��)

Year ended 31 December 2017
Opening balance ���������� (��)
Purchases during the year ���������� (��)
Vested during the year (���������) ���
Amounts at 31 December 2017 ���������� (��)

C.4	 Other reserves

���� ����
US�m US�m

Other reserves
Employee bene�ts reserve ���� ����
Foreign currency translation reserve ���� ����
Hedging reserves (��) (��)

���� ����

Reserve Nature�and�purpose

Employee bene�ts reserve Used to record share-based payments 
associated with the employee share plans and 
remeasurement adjustments relating to the 
de�ned bene�t plan.

Foreign currency 
translation reserve

Used to record foreign exchange di�erences 
arising from the translation of the �nancial 
statements of foreign entities from their functional 
currency to the Group�s presentation currency.

Hedging reserve Used to record gains and losses on hedges
designated as cash �ow hedges and foreign 
currency basis spread arising from the designation 
of a �nancial instrument as a hedging instrument. 
Gains and losses accumulated in the cash �ow 
hedge reserve are taken to the income statement 
in the same period during which the hedged 
expected cash �ows a�ect the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS D. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
for the year ended 31 December 2018

In this section
This section addresses the other assets and liabilities position at the end of the reporting period including, where applicable, the accounting 
policies applied and the key estimates and judgements made. 

D. Other assets and liabilities
D.1 Receivables Page 122
D.2 Inventories Page 122
D.3 Payables Page 122
D.4 Provisions Page 123
D.5 Other �nancial assets and liabilities Page 124
D.6 Segment assets and liabilities Page 124
D.7 Non-current assets held for sale Page 125

Key financial and capital risks in this section

Credit risk management 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligation under a �nancial instrument or customer contract, leading to a �nancial 
loss to the Group. Credit risk arises from the �nancial assets of the Group, which comprise trade and other receivables and deposits with 
banks and �nancial institutions. 

The Group manages its credit risk on trade receivables and �nancial instruments by predominantly dealing with counterparties with an 
investment grade credit rating. Customers who wish to trade on unsecured credit terms are subject to credit veri�cation procedures. 
Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. As a result, the Group�s exposure to bad debts is not signi�cant. The Group�s 
maximum credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of its �nancial assets.

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Group�s established policy, procedures and controls relating to 
customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating scorecard and individual 
credit limits are de�ned in accordance with this assessment. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. At 31 December 
2018, the Group had 7 customers (2017: 6 customers) that owed the Group more than $10 million each and accounted for approximately 
90% (2017: 85%) of all the receivables. Payment terms are typically 14 to 30 days providing only a short credit exposure.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had a provision for credit losses of nil (2017: nil). Subsequent to 31 December 2018, 100% (2017: 100%) of 
the trade receivables balance of $266 million (2017: $214 million) has been received.

Credit risk from balances with banks is managed by the Group�s treasury department in accordance with the Group�s policy. The Group’s 
main funds are placed as short term deposits with reputable �nancial institutions with strong investment grade credit ratings.

The Group�s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of �nancial position at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is 
the carrying amounts as illustrated in this Note D.
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D.1	 Receivables

����
Restated 

�����

US�m US�m

(a) Receivables (current)
Trade�receivables��(restated�) ���� ����
Other�receivables��(restated�) ���� ����
Loans�receivables� ��� ���
Interest receivable �� -
Dividend receivable �� ��

���� ����

(b)�Receivables�(non-current)
Loans�receivables� ���� ����
De�ned�bene�t�plan�asset ��� ���

���� ����

1.	 Interest-free and settlement terms are usually between 14 and 30 days.
2.	 Loans receivables are due from non-controlling interests. 
3.	 2017 amounts have been restated for the restrospective application of AASB 15. 

Recognition and measurement
Most trade and other receivables, including receivables from 
related parties, are initially recognised at fair value or transaction 
price determined under AASB 15 and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost less an allowance for uncollectable amounts. 
Uncollectable amounts are determined using the expected loss 
impairment model. Collectability and impairment are assessed 
on a regular basis. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written o� are credited against other expenses in the income 
statement. Certain receivables that do not satisfy the contractual 
cash �ow and business model tests are subsequently measured at 
fair value (refer to Note D.5).

The Group�s customers are required to pay in accordance with 
agreed payment terms. Depending on the product, settlement 
terms are 14 to 30 days from the date of invoice or bill of lading 
and customers regularly pay on time. There are no signi�cant 
overdue trade receivables as at the end of the reporting  
period (2017: nil).

Fair value
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates 
their fair value.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group held US$74 million of receivables at 31 December 
2018 (2017: US$113 million) in currencies other than US dollars 
(predominantly Australian dollars).

D.2	 Inventories
���� ����

US�m US�m

Inventories
Petroleum�products

Goods in transit ��� ���
Finished stocks ��� ���

Warehouse stores and materials ���� ����

���� ����

Recognition and measurement 
Inventories include hydrocarbon stocks, consumable supplies 
and maintenance spares. Inventories are valued at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted 
average basis and includes direct costs and an appropriate portion 
of �xed and variable production overheads where applicable. 
Inventories determined to be obsolete or damaged are written 
down to net realisable value, being the estimated selling price less 
selling costs.

D.3	 Payables
The following table shows the Group�s payables balances and 
maturity analysis.


����
days

��-���
days

	����
days Total

US�m US�m US�m US�m

Year ended 31 December 2018
Trade�payables� ���� - ��� ����
Other�payables� ���� - - ����
Interest�payable� �� - ��� ���
Total payables ���� - ��� ����

Year ended 31 December 2017 (restated3)
Trade�payables� ���� ��� ��� ����
Other�payables��(restated�) ��� �� ��� ����
Interest�payable� �� - ��� ���
Total payables (restated3) ���� ��� ���� ����

1.	 Interest-free and normally settled on 30-day terms.
2.	 Details regarding interest-bearing liabilities are contained in Note C.2.
3.	 2017 amounts have been restated for the restrospective application of AASB 15. 

Recognition and measurement
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and are 
recognised when goods and services are received, whether or not 
billed to the Group, prior to the end of the reporting period.

Fair value
The carrying amount of payables approximates their fair value.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group held US$360 million of payables at 31 December 
2018 (2017: US$380 million) in currencies other than US dollars 
(predominantly Australian dollars).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS D. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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D.4	 Provisions Restoration�
of�operating�

locations
Employee�

bene�ts Other Total�
US�m US�m US�m US�m

Year ended 31 December 2018
At 1 January 2018 ������ ���� ��� ������
Change�in�provision �� (�) (��) (�)
Unwinding�of�present�value�
discount ��� - - ���
Carrying amount at 31 
December 2018 ������ ���� ��� ������

Current ��� ���� ��� ����
Non-current ������ ��� - ������
Net carrying amount ������ ���� ��� ������

Year ended 31 December 2017
At 1 January 2017 ������ ���� ���� ������
Change in provision ��� ��� (���) (��)
Unwinding of present value 
discount ��� - - ���
Carrying amount at 31 
December 2017 ������ ���� ��� ������

Current ��� ���� ��� ����
Non-current ������ ��� ��� ������
Net carrying amount ������ ���� ��� ������

Recognition and measurement
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an out�ow of resources embodying economic 
bene�ts will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Restoration of operating locations
Provision is made for the obligation to restore operating locations. 
The provision is �rst recognised in the period in which the 
obligation arises. The nature of restoration activities includes the 
removal of facilities, abandonment of wells and restoration of 
a�ected areas.

Restoration provisions are updated annually, with the 
corresponding movement recognised against the related 
exploration and evaluation assets or oil and gas properties.

Over time, the liability is increased for the change in the present 
value based on a pre-tax discount rate appropriate to the risks 
inherent in the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recorded 
as an accretion charge within �nance costs. The carrying amount 
capitalised in oil and gas properties is depreciated over the useful 
life of the related asset (refer to Note B.3).

Costs incurred that relate to an existing condition caused  
by past operations and do not have a future economic bene�t 
are expensed.

Employee bene�ts
Provision is made for employee bene�ts accumulated as a result 
of employees rendering services up to the end of the reporting 
period. These bene�ts include wages, salaries, annual leave and 
long service leave.

Liabilities in respect of employees� services rendered that are not 
expected to be wholly settled within one year after the end of 
the period in which the employees render the related services are 
recognised as long-term employee bene�ts.

These liabilities are measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash out�ow to be made to the employees using 
the projected unit credit method. Liabilities expected to be wholly 
settled within one year after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related services are classi�ed as short-term 
bene�ts and are measured at the amount due to be paid.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS D. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Key estimates and judgements 
(a)	Restoration obligations 
The Group estimates the future removal costs of o�shore oil and gas 
platforms, production facilities, wells and pipelines at di�erent stages 
of the development and construction of assets or facilities. In most 
instances, removal of assets occurs many years into the future.  
This requires judgemental assumptions regarding removal date, 
future environmental legislation, the extent of reclamation activities 
required, the engineering methodology for estimating cost, future 
removal technologies in determining the removal cost, and liability 
speci�c discount rates to determine the present value of these cash 
�ows. The proportion of the non-current balance not expected to be 
settled within 15 years is 58% (2017: 63%). 

(b)	Long service leave 
Long service leave is measured at the present value of bene�ts 
accumulated up to the end of the reporting period. The liability is 
discounted using an appropriate discount rate. Management uses 
judgement to determine key assumptions used in the calculation 
including future increases in salaries and wages, future on-cost rates 
and future settlement dates of employees� departures.

(c)	Legal case outcomes
Provisions for legal cases are measured at the present value of the 
amount expected to settle the claim. Management is required to 
use judgement when assessing the likely outcome of legal cases, 
estimating the risked amount and whether a provision or contingent 
liability should be recognised.
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D.5	 Other financial assets and liabilities

����
Restated 

����
US�m US�m

Other �nancial assets 
Other �nancial assets at fair value through pro�t 
and loss

Other��nancial�assets ��� ����
Total other �nancial assets ��� ����

Current ��� ���
Non-current ��� ���
Net carrying amount ��� ����

Other �nancial liabilities 
Financial instruments at fair value through pro�t 
and loss

Derivative �nancial instruments designated as 
hedges ��� ���

Other �nancial liabilities at fair value through 
pro�t and loss

Other��nancial�liabilities ��� ���
Total other �nancial liabilities ��� ���

Current ��� ���
Non-current ��� ���
Net carrying amount ��� ���

Recognition and measurement
Other �nancial assets and liabilities
Other �nancial assets and liabilities, including sales contracts 
containing provisional pricing features, are initially recognised at 
fair value on the date the contract is entered into and subsequent 
fair value movements are recognised in the income statement. 

Derivative �nancial instruments 
Derivative �nancial instruments that are designated within 
qualifying hedge relationships are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date the contract is entered into. For relationships 
designated as fair value hedges, subsequent fair value movements 
of the derivative are recognised in the income statement. For 
relationships designated as cash �ow hedges, subsequent fair 
value movements of the derivative for the e�ective portion of 
the hedge are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in reserves in equity; fair value movements for the 
ine�ective portion are recognised immediately in the income 
statement. Costs of hedging have been separated from the 
hedging arrangements and deferred to other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in reserves in equity. Amounts 
accumulated in equity are reclassi�ed to pro�t or loss in the 
periods when the hedged item a�ects pro�t or loss.

Fair value
The carrying amount of all other �nancial assets and liabilities 
approximates their fair values.

Foreign exchange
The Group had no material other �nancial assets and liabilities 
denominated in currencies other than US dollars.

D.6	 Segment assets and liabilities

����
Restated 

����
US�m US�m

(a) Segment assets
NWS ������ ������
Pluto ������� �������
Australia Oil ������ ������
Wheatstone ������ ������
Development ������ ������
Other segments ���� ����
Unallocated items ������ ������

������� �������

����
Restated 

����
US�m US�m

(b) Segment liabilities
NWS ���� ����
Pluto ���� ����
Australia Oil ���� ����
Wheatstone ���� ����
Development ���� ����
Other segments ��� ���
Unallocated items ������ ������

������ ������

Refer to Note A.1 for descriptions of the Group�s segments. 
Unallocated assets mainly comprise cash and cash equivalents 
and the Group�s deferred tax assets. Unallocated liabilities mainly 
comprise interest-bearing liabilities and deferred tax liabilities. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS D. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS D. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
for the year ended 31 December 2018

D.7	 Non-current assets held for sale
In December 2018, the partners of the North West Shelf joint 
operation committed to sell two LNG vessels for a total price of 
US$60 million. Woodside�s share is US$10 million. 

Accordingly, the LNG vessels within the North West Shelf 
operating segment have been reclassified as non-current assets 
held for sale. The sale of each LNG vessel is subject to a number 
of conditions precedent and is expected to complete in 2019.

Impairment relating to the non-current assets held for sale
Immediately before the classification of the LNG vessels as 
non-current assets held for sale, the recoverable amount was 
estimated for the LNG vessels within oil and gas properties and 
an impairment of US$39 million was recognised (Note B.4). 

Assets and liabilities of the non-current assets held for sale 
At 31 December 2018, the LNG vessels have been classified as 
non-current assets held for sale for US$10 million. No liabilities 
are associated with the LNG vessels classified as held for sale. 

Recognition and measurement 
The Group classifies non-current assets as held for sale if their 
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through sale 
rather than through continuing use. Such non-current assets 
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to sell 
are the incremental costs directly attributable to the sale, 
excluding the finance costs and income tax expense.

The criteria for held for sale classi�cation is regarded as met 
only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required 
to complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that 
signi�cant changes to the sale will be made or that the decision 
to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the 
sale, expected within one year from the date of the classi�cation. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not 
depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale.

Assets and liabilities classi�ed as held for sale are presented 
separately as current items in the statement of �nancial position.
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In this section

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS E. OTHER ITEMS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

This section addresses information on items which require disclosure to comply with Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian 
Corporations Act 2001, however, are not considered critical in understanding the �nancial performance or position of the Group.  
This section includes Group structure information and other disclosures. 

E. Other items
E.1 Contingent liabilities and assets Page 127
E.2 Leases Page 127
E.3 Employee bene�ts Page 127
E.4 Related party transactions Page 129
E.5 Auditor remuneration Page 129
E.6 Events after the end of the reporting period Page 129
E.7 Joint arrangements Page 129
E.8 Parent entity information Page 130
E.9 Subsidiaries Page 131

E.10 Other accounting policies Page 133
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E.1	 Contingent liabilities and assets
���� ����

US�m US�m
Contingent liabilities at reporting date
Not otherwise provided for or disclosed in the 
�nancial statements:
Contingent liabilities ��� ���
Guarantees �� ��

��� ���

Contingent liabilities relate predominantly to actual or potential 
claims on the Group for which amounts are reasonably estimated 
but the liability is not probable and therefore the Group has 
not provided for such amounts in these �nancial statements. 
Additionally, there are a number of other claims and possible 
claims that have arisen in the course of business against entities 
in the Group, the outcome of which cannot be foreseen at present 
and for which no amounts have been included in the table above. 

E.2	 Leases
���� ����

US�m US�m
Operating lease commitments
Rents payable on non-cancellable operating 
leases, due:

Within one year ���� ����
After one year but not more than �ve years ���� ����
Later than �ve years ������ ����

������ ������

Subject to the joint operation that utilises the lease, the Group�s 
share of actual payments made under operating leases may be 
lower than the value of commitments disclosed.

The Group leases assets for operations including vessels, 
helicopters, cranes, land, mobile o�shore drilling units, o�ce 
premises and computers.

There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into 
these leases. Renewals are at the option of the Group. Certain leases 
contain a clause enabling upward revision of the rental charge on 
an annual basis based on the consumer price index. The Group 
made payments under operating leases of US$242 million during 
the year (2017: US$227 million). A portion of this amount relates 
to arrangements containing non-lease elements, which are not 
practicable to separate.

Recognition and measurement
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement 
as a part of total lease expense.

E.3	 Employee benefits
(a)	Employee bene�ts 

Employee bene�ts for the reporting period are as follows:
���� ����

US�m US�m
Employee bene�ts ���� ����
Share-based payments ��� ���
De�ned contribution plan costs ��� ���
De�ned bene�t plan expense �� ��

���� ����

Recognition and measurement 
The Group�s accounting policy for employee bene�ts other than 
superannuation is set out in Note D.4. The policy relating to share-
based payments is set out in Note E.3(c). 

All employees of the Group are entitled to bene�ts on retirement, 
disability or death from the Group�s superannuation plan.  
The majority of employees are party to a de�ned contribution 
scheme and receive �xed contributions from Group companies 
and the Group�s legal or constructive obligation is limited to 
these contributions. Contributions to de�ned contribution funds 
are recognised as an expense as they become payable. Prepaid 
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash 
refund or a reduction in the future payment is available.  
The Group also operates a de�ned bene�t superannuation 
scheme, the membership of which is now closed. The net de�ned 
bene�t plan asset at 31 December 2018 was US$15 million  
(2017: US$14 million).

(b)	Compensation of key management personnel 

Key management personnel (KMP) compensation for the �nancial 
year was as follows:

���� ����
US� US�

Short-term employee bene�ts ��������� �����������
Post employment bene�ts ������ ��������
Share-based payments ��������� ����������
Long-term employee bene�ts ������� �������
Termination bene�ts ������� ��������

���������� �����������

(c)	Share plans 

The Group provides bene�ts to its employees (including KMP) in 
the form of share-based payments whereby employees render 
services for shares (equity-settled transactions).

Woodside equity plan (WEP) and supplementary 
Woodside equity plan (SWEP)
The WEP is available to all permanent employees, but since 
1 January 2018 has excluded EIS participants. The number of 
Equity Rights (ERs) o�ered to each eligible employee will be 
calculated with reference to salary and performance. The linking 
of performance to an allocation allows the Group to recognise and 
reward eligible employees for high performance. The ERs have no 
further ongoing performance conditions after allocation, and do 
not require participants to make any payment in respect of the ERs 
at grant or at vesting. SWEP is available to a number of employees 
identi�ed as being retention critical. Participants do not make any 
payment in respect of the ERs at grant or at vesting. Each ER entitles 
the participant to receive a Woodside share on the vesting date 
three years after the grant date.
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E.3	 Employee benefits (cont.)

Executive incentive plans (EIP) 
Short-term awards (STA) 
The STA are delivered in the form of restricted shares to 
executives, including all executive KMP. Restricted shares 
entitle their holders to receive dividends. There are no further 
performance conditions for vesting of deferred STA. Participants 
are not required to make any payments in respect of STA awards 
at grant or at vesting. 

Long-term awards (LTA) 
LTA are granted in the form of Variable Pay Rights (VPRs) to 
executives, including all executive KMP. Vesting of LTA is subject 
to achievement of relative total shareholder return (RTSR) targets, 
with 33% measured against the ASX 50 and the remaining 67% 
tested against an international group of oil and gas companies. 

Participants are not required to make any payments in respect of 
LTA awards at grant or at vesting.

Executive incentive scheme (EIS)
The EIS was introduced for the 2018 performance year for all 
excutives including executive KMP. The EIS is delivered in the 
form of a cash incentive, restricted shares and performance rights. 
The grant date of the restricted shares and performance rights 
has been determined to be subsequent to the performance year, 
being the date of the Board of Directors’ approval (13 February 
2019). Accordingly, restricted shares and perfomance rights 
have not been included in the table below as they have not been 
granted as at 31 December 2018. An expense related to the 2018 
performance year has been estimated for restricted shares and 
performance rights, using fair value estimates based on inputs at 
31 December 2018.

Recognition and measurement 
All compensation under WEP, SWEP and executive share plans 
is accounted for as share-based payments to employees for 
services provided. The cost of equity-settled transactions with 
employees is measured by reference to the fair values of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The 
fair value of share-based payments is recognised, together with 
the corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 
the vesting conditions are ful�lled, ending on the date on which 
the relevant employee becomes fully entitled to the shares. At 
each balance sheet date, the Group reassesses the number of 
awards that are expected to vest based on service conditions. The 
expense recognised each year takes into account the most  
recent estimate. 

The fair value of the bene�t provided for the WEP and SWEP is 
estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing technique. The 
fair value of the restricted shares is estimated as the closing share 
price at grant date. The fair value of the bene�t provided for the 
RTSR VPRs was estimated using the Binomial or Black-Scholes 
option pricing technique combined with a Monte Carlo simulation 
methodology, where relevant, using historical volatility to estimate 
the volatility of the share price in the future.

The number of performance rights and movements for all share 
plans are summarised as follows:

Number�of�performance�rights

Employee�plans Executive�plans

WEP SWEP STA LTA

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening�balance ���������� ������� �������� ����������
Granted�during�the�year��� ���������� ���� �������� �������
Vested�during�the�year (���������) - (�������) (�������)
Forfeited�during�the�year (�������) - (������) (�������)
Performance rights at 31 December 2018 ���������� ������� �������� ����������

US�m US�m US�m US�m
Fair value of rights granted during the year ��� - �� ��

Number�of�performance�rights

Employee�plans Executive�plans

WEP SWEP STA LTA

Year ended 31 December 2017
Opening balance ���������� ������� �������� ����������
Granted during the year ���������� ������� �������� ��������
Vested during the year1,2 (���������) (������) (�������) (�������)
Forfeited during the year (�������) (������) (������) (�������)
Performance rights at 31 December 2017 ���������� ������� �������� ����������

US�m US�m US�m US�m
Fair value of rights granted during the year ��� - �� ��

1.	 For the purpose of valuation, the share price on grant date for the 2018 WEP allocations was US$24.36 (2017: US$22.77) and the average SWEP was US$24.09 (2017: US$23.38).
2.	 For the purpose of valuation, the share price on grant date for the 2018 STA and LTA allocations was US$24.45 (2017: US$22.49).

For more detail on these share plans and performance rights issued to KMPs, refer to the Remuneration Report on pages 
82-85 and pages 92-94.
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E.4	 Related party transactions
Transactions with directors 

There were no transactions with directors during the year other 
than those disclosed in Note E.3(b).

E.5	 Auditor remuneration
The auditor of Woodside Petroleum Ltd is Ernst & Young (EY).

���� ����
US����� US�����

(a) Amounts received or due and receivable for an audit or review of the 
�nancial statements of the entity and any other entity in the Group by:

EY Australia ������ ������
Other EY �rms ���� ����

������ ������
(b) Amounts received or due and receivable for non-audit services in 
relation to the entity or any other entity in the Group by:

EY Australia for other assurance services ���� ����
EY Australia for other advisory services ���� ����
EY Australia for taxation services ���� ����
Other EY �rms for other assurance services ���� ���

���� ����

E.6	 Events after the end of the reporting period
Since the end of the �nancial year and to the date of this report, 
the following entities were incorporated:
�	 �Woodside Energy Holdings II Pty Ltd was incorporated on  

23 January 2019 - a wholly owned subsidiary incorporated  
in Australia.

�	 �Woodside Power Pty Ltd was incorporated on 23 January  
2019 - a wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in Australia.

�	 �Woodside Power (Generation) Pty Ltd was incorporated on  
23 January 2019 - a wholly owned subsidiary incorporated  
in Australia.

E.7	 Joint arrangements
(a)	Interest percentage in joint ventures

Group�Interest��

Entity Principal activity ���� ����
North West Shelf Gas Pty Ltd Marketing services for 

ventures in the sale of gas to 
the domestic market. ���
��� �������

North West Shelf Liaison 
Company Pty Ltd

Liaison for ventures in the 
sale of LNG to the Japanese 
market. ���
��� �������

China Administration Company 
Pty Ltd

Marketing services for 
ventures in the sale of LNG 
to international markets. ���
��� �������

North West Shelf Shipping 
Service Company Pty Ltd

LNG vessel �eet adviser. 
���
��� �������

North West Shelf Lifting 
Coordinator Pty Ltd

Coordinator for venturers for 
all equity liftings. ���
��� �������

(b)	Interest percentage in joint operations

Group�Interest��

���� ����

Producing and developing assets

Oceania
North West Shelf ��
��-���
� �����-�����
En�eld and Vincent ��
�� �����
Stybarrow ��
�� �����
Balnaves ��
�� �����
Pluto ��
�� �����
Wheatstone ��
��-���
� �����-�����

Exploration�and�evaluation�assets

Oceania
Browse�Basin ��
�� �����
Carnarvon�Basin��� ��
��-���
� �����-�����
Bonaparte Basin ��
��-���
� �����-�����
New�Zealand� - �����

Africa
Morocco� - �����
Gabon� ��
��-���
� �����-�����
Senegal ��
�� �����

The Americas
Peru ��
�� �����
Kitimat ��
�� �����

Asia
Myanmar ��
��-���
� �����-�����

Europe
Ireland ��
��-���
� �����-�����
Bulgaria� ��
�� -

1.	 Scarborough is included in the Carnarvon Basin.
2.	 One permit (WA-35-R) within the Carnarvon Basin was surrendered in 2018.
3.	 One permit (PEP-55794) within New Zealand was surrendered in 2018.
4.	 One permit (Rabat Deep I-VI) within Morocco was surrendered in 2018.
5.	 One permit (Permit Luna Muetse (E13)) within Gabon expired in 2018.
6.	 As at 31 December 2018, the 1-14 Khan Kubrat block farm-in has been approved by 

the Bulgarian government. This approval has mandated that the Energy Minister 
will sign an agreement that will transfer 30% of the block to Woodside.  Final 
execution of this agreement is pending.

The principal activities of the joint operations above are 
exploration, development and production of hydrocarbons.

Key estimates and judgements 
Accounting for interests in other entities 
Judgement is required in assessing the level of control obtained in a 
transaction to acquire an interest in another entity; depending upon the 
facts and circumstances in each case, Woodside may obtain control, joint 
control or signi�cant in�uence over the entity or arrangement. Judgement 
is applied when determining the relevant activities of a project and if joint 
control is held over them. Relevant activities include, but are not limited 

to, work program and budget approval, investment decision approval, 
voting rights in joint operating committees, amendments to permits 
and changes to joint arrangement participant holdings. Transactions 
which give Woodside control of a business are business combinations. 
If Woodside obtains joint control of an arrangement, judgement is also 
required to assess whether the arrangement is a joint operation or a joint 
venture. If Woodside has neither control nor joint control, it may be in 
a position to exercise signi�cant in�uence over the entity, which is then 
accounted for as an associate.
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E.7 Joint arrangements (cont.)

Recognition and measurement 
Joint arrangements are arrangements in which two or more 
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractual agreed 
sharing of control of the arrangement which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control. Joint arrangements are classi�ed as 
either a joint operation or joint venture, based on the rights and 
obligations arising from the contractual obligations between the 
parties to the arrangement. 

To the extent the joint arrangement provides the Group with 
rights to the individual assets and obligations arising from the joint 
arrangement, the arrangement is classi�ed as a joint operation, and 
as such the Group recognises its:

�	 assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 

�	 liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 

�	 revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the  
joint operation; 

�	 share of revenue from the sale of the output by the joint 
operation; and 

�	 expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 

To the extent the joint arrangement provides the Group with 
rights to the net assets of the arrangement, the investment  
is classi�ed as a joint venture and accounted for using the  
equity method.

Joint arrangements acquired which are deemed to be carrying on 
a business are accounted for applying the principles of AASB 3 
Business Combinations. Joint arrangements which are not deemed 
to be carrying on a business are treated as asset acquisitions. 

E.8	 Parent entity information
���� ����

US�m US�m
Woodside Petroleum Ltd:
Current assets ���� ����
Non-current assets ������ ������
Non-current liabilities (���) (���)
Net assets ������ ������

Issued and fully paid shares ������ ������
Shares reserved for employee share plans (��) (��)
Employee bene�ts reserve ���� ����
Foreign currency translation reserve ���� ����
Retained earnings ���� ����
Total shareholders’ equity ������ ������

Pro�t of parent entity ������ ����
Total comprehensive income of parent entity ������ ����

Guarantees 
Woodside Petroleum Ltd and Woodside Energy Ltd (a subsidiary 
company) are parties to a Deed of Cross Guarantee as disclosed 
in Note E.9. The e�ect of the Deed is that Woodside Petroleum 
Ltd has guaranteed to pay any de�ciency in the event of winding 
up of the subsidiary company under certain provisions of the 
Corporations Act 2001. The subsidiary company has also given 
a similar guarantee in the event that Woodside Petroleum Ltd is 
wound up.

Woodside Petroleum Ltd has guaranteed the discharge by a 
subsidiary company of its �nancial obligations under debt facilities 
disclosed in Note C.2. Woodside Petroleum Ltd has guaranteed 
certain obligations of subsidiaries to unrelated parties on behalf of 
their performance in contracts. No liabilities are expected to arise 
from these guarantees.
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E.10	 Other accounting policies
(a)	Summary of other signi�cant accounting policies 

Tax consolidation 
The parent and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have 
elected to enter a tax consolidation, with Woodside Petroleum Ltd 
as the head entity of the tax consolidated group. The members of 
the tax consolidated group are identi�ed in Note E.9. 

The tax expense/(bene�t), deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax 
assets arising from temporary di�erences of the members of the 
tax consolidated group are recognised in the separate �nancial 
statements of the members of the tax consolidated group, using 
the stand-alone approach. 

Entities within the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax 
funding arrangement and a tax sharing agreement with the head 
entity. Under the tax funding agreement, Woodside Petroleum Ltd 
and each of the entities in the tax consolidated group have agreed to 
pay or receive a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity, 
based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. 

The tax sharing agreement entered into between members of 
the tax consolidated group provides for the determination of the 
allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities, should the 
head entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts 
have been recognised in the �nancial statements in respect of 
this agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing 
agreement is considered remote. 

(b)	New and amended accounting standards and 
interpretations adopted 

The Group adopted AASB 15 as of 1 January 2018.

AASB 15 provides a single, principles-based �ve-step model to  
be applied to all contracts with customers. 

The Group adopted the new standard using the full retrospective 
approach and applied the practical expedient per AASB 15.C5(b). 
The Group�s new revenue accounting policy is detailed in Note A.1.

Revenue will be recognised using the sales method of accounting 
rather than the entitlements method. The sales method results in 
recording revenue when the products are delivered to customers,  
as opposed to the Group�s percentage interest in production from  
a producing �eld. An opening adjustment of a US$14 million loss has 
been recognised in retained earnings as at 1 January 2017 and a  
US$45 million increase in pro�t has been recognised for the year 
ended 31 December 2017.

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into long-
term sales contracts. Provisions are included in the contracts 
to renegotiate prices to align to current market conditions at a 
given point in time. Where the new pricing formula is not agreed 
by the time the contract enters a price review period, revenue 
is recognised at the amount to which the Group expects to be 
entitled. No opening adjustments were recognised.

The impact of AASB 15 adoption and representation of other 
�nancial assets is as follows:

Impact on equity (increase/(decrease)): 

Adjustment

���December� 
���� 

US�m

��January� 
���� 

US�m
Receivables (��) (��)
Other��nancial�assets� �� ��
Payables� (��) (��)
Deferred tax liabilities �� (�)
Retained earnings �� (��)

1.	 Product receivables containing variable components held at fair value were 
previously presented within receivables at 31 December 2017. These are now 
presented as other �nancial assets in the statement of �nancial position.

2.	 Adjustment to payables relates to reversal of revenue entitlements.

Impact on the income statement and earnings per share  
(increase/(decrease)): Adjustment

���December�
���� 

US�m
Operating revenue ��
Other income �
Other expenses (�)
Income tax expenses (��)
Pro�t for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent ��
Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) attributable to 
equity holders of the parent (US cents)1 ���

1.	 EPS adjustment re�ects the impact of AASB 15. It has not been adjusted for 
theoretical ex-rights price factor associated with the equity raising (refer to  
Note A.4).
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DIRECTORS� DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of directors of Woodside Petroleum Ltd, we state that:

1.	 In the opinion of the directors:

(a)	 the �nancial statements and notes thereto, and the disclosures included in the audited 2018 Remuneration Report, comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001;

(b)	the �nancial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the �nancial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and 
of the performance of the Group for the �nancial year ended 31 December 2018;

(c)	 the �nancial statements and notes thereto also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in the �About 
these statements� section within the notes to the 2018 Financial Statements;

(d)	there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; 
and

(e)	there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Closed Group identi�ed in Note E.9 will be able to meet any 
obligations or liabilities which they are or may become subject to, by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee.

2.	This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with section 295A of 
the Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 31 December 2018.

For and on behalf of the Board

R J Goyder, AO
Chairman 
Perth, Western Australia 
14 February 2019

P J Coleman
Chief Executive O�cer and Managing Director 
Perth, Western Australia 
14 February 2019
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Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of Woodside Petroleum 
Ltd 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Woodside Petroleum Ltd (the Company), including its subsidiaries 
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2018, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and the directors' declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2018 and of its 
financial performance for the year ended on that date. 

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter 
is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial report.  
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